
Annual Report - 

NattoPharma ASA 

       

 

  2017 



 

1 ANNUAL REPORT 2017 – NATTOPHARMA ASA 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CONTENTS 

 
KEY FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 2 

KEY STRATEGIC HIGHLIGHTS 2 

LETTER FROM THE CEO 3 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS REPORT 2017 5 

DECLARATION BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND CEO 13 

NATTOPHARMA CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF PROFIT AND LOSS 14 

PROFIT AND LOSS STATEMENT 14 

STATEMENT OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 14 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 15 

CASH FLOW STATEMENT 16 

CHANGES IN EQUITY 16 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 17 

NATTOPHARMA ASA STATEMENTS OF PROFIT AND LOSS 26 

PROFIT AND LOSS STATEMENT 26 

STATEMENT OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 26 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 27 

CASH FLOW STATEMENT 28 

CHANGES IN EQUITY 28 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 29 

ALTERNATIVE PERFORMANCE MEASURES 32 

 

 

  



 

2 ANNUAL REPORT 2017 – NATTOPHARMA ASA 
 

 

KEY FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS  
 

Revenue growth of 25 % compared to 2016 

 

 

Gross Profit grew with 29% compared to 2016 

Strong expansion in the U.S, Brazil and China markets 

 

 

Reduced Operating Expenses relative to revenue com-

pared to 2016 

 

 

KEY STRATEGIC HIGHLIGHTS  
 

Strategic and organizational focus on marketing and sales 

in NattoPharma supplement business  

 

 

Successful spin-off of pharma business 

Added new production line for synthetic MenaQ7  
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LETTER FROM THE CEO 
 
 
We ended 2017 with a very strong finish, delivering record revenue for 
the full year, second half, as well as for both the fourth quarter and the 
month of December. At the same time, we saw an improvement in our 
gross margins throughout the year, and with careful control over the op-
erating expenses we now have five consecutive quarters with a positive 
EBITDA in our supplement business behind us.  
 
During the year we continued the process to improve our operations, 
secure our supply chain and grow our business globally. This has been 
demonstrated by the addition of new markets, where we have success-
fully launched into countries with huge potential such as China and Bra-
zil. This happens at the same time as we see market growth in already 
established regions, with development in the US being especially strong.  
 
Toward the latter part of the fourth quarter we could see the results of 
new product launches and the addition of new, significant customer ac-
counts. This demand, coupled with improved supply capabilities toward 
the end of the period, are key drivers of the results achieved.  
 
Operating improvements are apparent at all levels of the income state-
ment, from increased gross margin to significantly more favourable ex-
pense ratios. This was again particularly visible through our performance 
during the fourth quarter. At the same time as we achieve greater sales 
volumes and production efficiencies, we are closely managing our oper-
ating expenses. In Q4, the combination of growing volume, improved 
product margin and tight expense control enabled us to deliver EBITDA 
of over 20% on continued operations. This is a significant milestone for 
our business and represents our best quarterly performance to date.   
 
We are very pleased with these results, as they demonstrate not only a 
significant improvement versus prior periods, but also signify operating 
performance that is sustainable, strengthening and profitable. In the sec-
ond half, and even more so in the fourth quarter, we see an indication of 
the performance we believe this business can deliver in the periods 
ahead. 
 
In May, we held our first investor presentation, followed up with a Capi-
tal Markets Day in December, hosted in Oslo before an audience of 
shareholders and other investors. During these events we shared an up-
date on our accomplishments over the prior year along with progress on 
our strategy.   
 
Our flagship brand, MenaQ7, continues to be our top priority.  A series 
of initiatives during the year assured that we remain the recognized 
leader in the vitamin K2 market. These initiatives included everything 
from media outreach and consumer product launch support to continu-
ing efforts on clinical research and new application delivery technologies.   
 
In November we launched our new and unique MenaQ7 Full Spectrum 
K2, this innovative product provides multiple menaquinones for optimal 
and maximal delivery of Vitamin K2 with respect to absorption, half-life 
and biological activity. 
 
Our market position was reinforced and presented to the industry in our 
six pillars framework. 
 
These are: 

• We are the EXPERTS: customers benefit from the unique know-how 
and perspective that comes from MenaQ7 being the most-re-
searched vitamin K2 on the market; 

• NattoPharma has the SCIENCE: MenaQ7 is validated by ground-
breaking human clinical trials in bone and heart health, as well as a 
world-leading ongoing clinical program to identify new application 
opportunities; 

• MenaQ7 stands for the highest QUALITY: NattoPharma has a propri-
etary manufacturing process and a system of R&D support, regula-
tory compliance, intellectual property and patents making MenaQ7 
the best choice for quality-based brands; 

• We continue to drive INNOVATION, with clinical research and new 
enabling technologies, such as our Advance Delivery Platform; 

• We provide unmatched MARKETING and communication in direct 
support of our MenaQ7 customers; 

• We offer a broad level of SUPPORT SERVICES to our customers, from 
technical expertise and analysis to advice on structure-function 
claims, as part of our consultative partnership model to help our cus-
tomers be successful. 

 
During the year we also formed an exclusive partnership together with 
Ortho Molecular, a US based specialist within the dietary supplement 
market, promoting MenaQ7 in the US practitioner channel. In December 
we announced our new partnership and launch in China with Fishburg, a 
company represented in more than 30 000 retail stores around China. 
The launch event included participation by several hundred distributors 
and attendance of the Norwegian consulate. 
 
We continued to lead the industry in our media outreach and awareness 
campaigns. The initiatives were both numerous and effective, as repre-
sented below: 
 

• In April NattoPharma’s Chief Medical Officer, Dr. Hogne Vik ap-
peared on ABC News Australia to speak about MenaQ7 health ben-
efits.  He was also featured in a Q&A in Go Mag, a major Australian 
retail publication; 

• NattoPharma partnered with leading brands across multiple geogra-
phies to support product launches and expand segment categories.  
For example: 
o Wiley’s Finest created the first kid-specific product featuring 

MenaQ7® in combination with DHA/EPA omega-3.  The new 
product received Delicious Living recognition as Best Kids’ Nu-
trition product; NattoPharma also supported the launch of an 
adult formula, featuring MenaQ7, and participated at Natural 
& Organic Products Expo in UK and a retailer reception at An-
aheim, CA during the Expo West event 

o In Australia, Blackmores launched a new, high dose K2 Melt 
featuring MenaQ7 

o NattoPharma increased its Brazilian presence with the Nutri-
angels launch of a new MenaQ7 K2 product launch  

o Biolab, also in Brazil, launched Doiska MenaQ7 

• MenaQ7 was featured in multiple articles and industry publications, 
such as: 
o Natural Products INSIDER featured commentary by Eric Ander-

son, NattoPharma’s VP Global Marketing and Business Devel-
opment, on the importance of vitamin K2 for children: “Vita-
min K2 for Child Development: Why It Should Be Included in 
Prenatal & Children’s Multivitamins” 

o Nutrition Insight at the VitaFoods show featured an interview 
of Eric Anderson 

o A Nutraingredients-USA article detailing latest MenaQ7 study 
showing benefit for CKD patients, explaining how consumption 
of vitamin K2 may reverse calcification of blood vessels in peo-
ple with kidney disease 

o A second, more comprehensive article in Nutrition Insight pro-
vided an overview of the vitamin K2 market, the reasons for 
the highly optimistic outlook and why NattoPharma continues 
to lead the way: http://www.nutritioninsight.com/news/vita-
min-k2-nattopharma-builds-a-solid-market-foundation.html 

• NattoPharma was an active participant in the sponsorship of and 
participation in symposiums, trade shows, media outreach, and con-
ferences: 
o At a Biolab cardiologist conference in Brazil, which featured 

the launch of Doiska MenaQ7, NattoPharma CMO Dr. Hogne 
Vik participated in and moderated a panel with Dr. Francisco 
Fonseca.  Over 600 cardiologists were in attendance 

o NattoPharma gained exposure in London by assembling re-
search experts who participated in a press breakfast 

o Over 500 health professionals and sales representatives at-
tended a conference in Ostrava, Czech Republic, where Nat-
toPharma research expert was a featured speaker 

o At the Vitafoods Europe, in Geneva, the company held what 
we believe to be our largest and most successful trade show to 
date 
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o We also exhibited at Hi/Fi Asia, in cooperation with our partner 
in China, Prochin 

• And we continued to invest in both clinical studies and technical in-
novation in support of our nutraceutical growth: 
o Abstract presented at International Conference on Children’s 

Bone Health correlating low K2 status with increased fracture 
risk in children 

o We added a strong proprietary element to our Advance Deliv-
ery Platform with the signing of a technology licensing agree-
ment with ZümXR, giving exclusive access to NattoPharma for 
patented delivery technologies in the vitamin K space 

o A MenaQ7 Study Again Shows Improved Arterial Health, this 
time in Renal transplant patients as described in a study pub-
lished in the Journal of American Society of Hypertension 

 
We are also continuing our efforts related to our announced product 
portfolio expansion. With the launch of our soy-based MenaQ7, Nat-
toPharma is now the only company to offer four distinct vitamin K2 MK-
7 versions: a natural non-soy, a synthetic PURE and a natural soy-based, 
together with our latest addition being the Full Spectrum product. In par-
allel, we are actively seeking new ingredients that meet our science-
based validation and quality criteria. We now have a pipeline of several 
promising ingredient candidates on which comprehensive evaluations 
are underway.   
 
On the organizational front, we expanded our team with the addition of 
two new commercial roles.  The first was the creation of a new senior 
position in charge of sales for the Americas, and the second position was 
a senior account manager role, focused in the fast-growing US market.  
In both cases we successfully on-boarded experienced nutraceutical in-
dustry professionals. Active searches continued for open positions in 
both Asia and Europe. 
 

In addition to the above events, NattoPharma completed its much-antic-
ipated spin-off of the pharmaceutical business into an independent com-
pany, now named Kaydence Pharma. The private placement offering, 
which was oversubscribed, was successfully completed in December. 
The NattoPharma management and board believes that the pharmaceu-
tical path for vitamin K2-MK7 is extremely promising and that this new 
structure will enable the level of focus and pharma-level funding re-
quired to successfully pursue this amazing potential, and to build on the 
clinical findings that NattoPharma has invested in over the last decade.   
 
Looking ahead we see continued growth in both established and newer 
markets. We are seeing the first significant volumes into China, and with 
our recent launches and activities we are now established as one of the 
main K2 players in this potentially enormous market. Vitamin K2 contin-
ues to gain headline-grabbing news in established markets as more and 
more practitioners and supplement brand leaders become familiar with 
the K2 story. Several articles in recent months have referred to vitamin 
K2 as “the one to watch in 2018.” Increasingly it is NattoPharma that is 
best positioned to ride this wave, with our: 

• Extensive, and unmatched clinical data; 

• Patented positions; 

• Broadest vitamin K2 offering, including synthetic, natural and en-
capsulated; 

• Customer, application-focused solutions; 

• Unparalleled commercial team and technical support; 

• Globally competitive cost position. 

• And, perhaps most importantly, our reputation as the expert in vit-
amin K2. 

 
We begin 2018 with a high level of energy and excitement about growth 
and opportunities ahead. 

  
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Kjetil Ramsøy 
Chief Executive Officer 
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS REPORT 2017  
 

About NattoPharma 
 
NattoPharma ASA develops and sells vitamin K2 with the brand name 
MenaQ7®. The product has been documented in clinical trials to reduce 
age-related calcium loss from bone tissue, contribute to maintaining 
bone strength and postpone the possible development of osteoporosis. 
Vitamin K2 MenaQ7® also delays the development of rigid blood ves-
sels, what we also call arterial calcification. 
 
Since its introduction in 2006, MenaQ7® has been positioned as the 
leading global brand in the vitamin K2 dietary supplement segment. 
NattoPharma currently sells both "natural" and synthetically produced 
vitamin K2 as MK7 to both manufacturers and distributors of finished 
products of nutritional supplements and enriched foods (i.e., functional 
foods). In the United States, MenaQ7® Vitamin K2 is also sold as medi-
cal food (i.e., food specially adapted to specific nutritional needs). 
 
Since its inception in 2004, NattoPharma ASA has been - and still is - the 
global pioneer and driver of vitamin K2 product development. Through 
a number of clinical studies on the use of vitamin K2 in healthy subjects, 
NattoPharma has documented that MenaQ7® Vitamin K2 is important 
for ordinary people to stay healthy. The company has also developed 
and applied a unique method of synthesizing a vitamin K2 that is chem-
ically identical to vitamin K2 naturally produced by fermentation. The 
advantage of the chemically manufactured product, in addition to 
lower production costs, is that it contains less impurities from produc-
tion than vitamin K2 produced by fermentation. This product is mar-
keted under the brand name MenaQ7® PharmaPure. 
 
The completed clinical "3-year study" - published in 2013 (bone results) 
and 2015 (cardiovascular results) - documented that a daily intake of 
180 micrograms MenaQ7® Vitamin K2 over a 3-year period made the 
artery walls less rigid. Less rigid arteries mean that the blood vessels 
are more flexible and that the heart does not have to pump the blood 
into the main artery with excessive pressure. "Soft" and flexible arteries 
reduce the risk of heart attack or stroke. 
 
Leon Schurgers, Assistant Professor at CARIM, School of Cardiovascular 
Diseases in Maastricht, is one of the world's leading experts in research 
on the effect of vitamin K2 on the calcification of tissues. He is invited 
to lecture within his field of specialization, vitamin K and coagulation, 
as well as vitamin K and influence on the body's calcium metabolism at 
international scientific congresses all over the world. NattoPharma has 
been working with Leon Schurgers for more than 10 years. Through 
2017, NattoPharma and CARIM, together with the support of the Nor-
wegian Research Council through the so-called "Industrial Competence 
Program", have supervised a doctorate candidate employed in Nat-
toPharma and working to elucidate the issues about the body's calcium 
balance. It is expected that the candidate will defend his PhD disserta-
tion and disputes in the autumn of 2018. In January 2017, an additional 
doctoral project was started in collaboration between the Norwegian 
Research Council and NattoPharma, together with Leon Schurgers and 
the University of Maastricht. This PhD program is expected to continue 
under NattoPharma supervision over the next years, and will add valu-
able insight to new knowledge of the importance of vitamin K2 in peo-
ple’s diets.  
 
During the year 2017 and further into 2018, NattoPharma ASA is scaling 
up the production of MenaQ7® PharmaPure; which means that the 
company will be well positioned to meet an expected growing demand 
for this product. 
 
NattoPharma ASA is a B2B company with worldwide sales rights for vit-
amin K2 - materialized through approved Novel Food procedures in Eu-
rope and SA-GRAS certificates in the United States. NattoPharma ASA 
operates out of its head office in Oslo, Norway, and has subsidiaries in 
the US and Cyprus, as well as sales representatives in Brussels and 
Shanghai.  
 
In December 2017, NattoPharma completed the process to spin-off the 
pharmaceutical development plan to a new entity. This new entity will 

operate independent from NattoPharma and will focus on the process 
to develop a therapeutic medicinal for pharmaceutical use based on the 
clinical research earlier funded and supported by NattoPharma.  
 
NattoPharma's research and development cooperation with the Uni-
versity of Maastricht in the Netherlands, through VitaK and CARIM, has 
over the years been central to the development of vitamin K2. Dr. Cees 
Vermeer of VitaK was one of the first permanent staff researchers at 
the University of Maastricht in 1974. Since then, his work has been fo-
cused on the characterization and description of the biological effects 
of vitamin K2. NattoPharma has collaborated with Dr. Cees Vermeer 
since 2006. The collaboration with VitaK has resulted in, inter alia, sev-
eral important publications of significant clinical data over the last 10 
years, which shows that MenaQ7® can reverse the development of rigid 
arteries in a healthy population. 
 
As a result of the spin-off of the pharma activity to the new entity, Nat-
toPharma will no longer be funding the clinical research activity that 
earlier was conducted under the company’s supervision. All this will be 
operated through the new entity.   

Business Concept for NattoPharma  

Cardiovascular disease is the most common cause of death in the de-
veloped parts of the world. Cardiovascular disease often results in ath-
erosclerosis, where blood vessels become narrower and stiffer and, in 
turn, can lead to heart attack and / or stroke. As of May 2017, the World 
Health Organization (WHO) estimates that 17.7 million people died 
from CVDs in 2015, representing 31% of all global deaths. Of these 
deaths, an estimated 7.4 million were due to coronary heart disease 
and 6.7 million were due to stroke. 
 
Annually, about one in every six U.S. healthcare dollars is spent on car-
diovascular disease, reported The CDC Foundation, a group formed by 
Congress that manages more than 250 programs led by the US Center 
for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), in 2015. By 2030, annual di-
rect medical costs associated with cardiovascular diseases are pro-
jected to rise to more than $818 billion, while lost productivity costs 
could exceed $275 billion.  
World Heart Federation estimates global cost of cardiovascular disease 
at $863 billion in 2010 and estimates expected growth to around $ 1044 
billion by 2030. 
 
The European Heart Network estimates in its European Cardiovascular 
Disease Report (2017 edition), that each year cardiovascular disease 
(CVD) causes 3.9 million deaths in Europe and over 1.8 million deaths 
in the European Union (EU), which means CVD accounts for 45% of all 
deaths in Europe and 37% of all deaths in the EU. CVD is the main cause 
of death in men in all but 12 countries of Europe and is the main cause 
of death in women in all but two countries. 
 
Further, according to the European Society of Cardiology 2017 figures, 
there are currently more than 6 million new cases of CVD in the EU and 
more than 11 million in Europe as a whole, every year. With almost 49 
million people living with the disease in the EU, the cost to the EU econ-
omies is as high as €210 billion a year. 
 
Research (Rotterdam study and NattoPharma's "3-year study") show 
that daily intake of vitamin K2 (MK7) reduces the risk of cardiovascular 
disease. In conjunction with the knowledge we currently have about 
this disease group and its propagation, MenaQ7® vitamin K2 will have 
a great potential as a dietary supplement to prevent such disease de-
velopment.   

 
MenaQ7® Vitamin K2 reduces loss of bone tissue and strength and de-
lays the development of rigid arteries 
 
Osteoporosis affects between 8 000 and 10 000 people in Norway an-
nually, and the estimate is that between 240 000 and 300 000 persons 
are diagnosed with osteoporosis in Norway. Osteoporosis can be pre-
vented or inhibited by the intake of calcium, provided the body can 
properly utilize the calcium, and it cannot do this without vitamin K2. 
Vitamin K2 has been shown in clinical study to activate the vitamin K-
dependent proteins already present in the body, so that calcium binds 
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to the bone mineral matrix, and is inhibited from depositing in arteries 
and blood vessels. Increased calcium intake (in the absence of K2 in-
take), however, has been shown to increase the risk of cardiovascular 
disease as the calcium deposits in the blood vessels. This issue is known 
as the "calcium paradox". 
 
Calcium was the fourth largest dietary supplement in the United States 
in 2010 (NBJ Global Supplement & Nutrition Industry Report 2012). 
During 2016, the attention to the so-called calcium paradox has in-
creased. Recent medical publications claim that the use of calcium sup-
plements in the population involves an increased risk of developing car-
diovascular disease. This knowledge has practically led to many medical 
professionals working to revise the use of calcium as supplements for 
the management of osteoporosis. (Source: Bolland et al., British Medi-
cal Journal (BMJ 2010; 341: c3691)). Media attention around this con-
text has led to a significant decline in calcium sales as a dietary supple-
ment. This is especially true in the United States, where dietary supple-
ments are heavily influenced by media coverage and television person-
alities. Dr. Oz, a leading authority and consumer influencer, demon-
strated in a major feature of his program in 2014 that the use of calcium 
supplements without vitamin K2 can lead to atherosclerosis. This stim-
ulated increased demand for MenaQ7® among people at risk of devel-
oping osteoporosis. 
 
The conclusion amongst several highly renown physicians that calcium 
intake without adequate K2 dose might increase the risk for cardiovas-
cular diseases stimulated several producers of calcium to start to add 
vitamin K2 in their products, opening new markets for MenaQ7® to Nat-
toPharma. 

 

Consolidated Financial Statements 2017 

Sales, Result, and Equity  

Amounts in NOK 1.000 2017 2016 

Operating Income 66 606  53 342 
Cost of Goods -35 013 -28 923 
Gross Margin 31 593 24 419 

Gross Margin in % 47,4% 45,8% 
 
NattoPharma had significant growth in revenue in 2017, and measured 
against 2016, revenue growth is close to 25%. During the same period, 
the gross margin increased from 45,8% in 2016 to 47,4% in 2017. The 
increase in both revenue and gross margin is due to strong growth in 
some key markets, including the US and new markets such as Brazil and 
Asia-Pacific. The continued capacity expansion of the production line 
for MenaQ7® PharmaPure also contributed to the growth, as more vol-
ume was available to sell.  
 
Other operating expenses totalled MNOK 10,3 in 2017 against MNOK 
12,6 in the same period 2016. During 2017, the company implemented 
a number of measures to reduce the other operating expenses. Those 
efforts will continue even stronger in 2018. 
 
Net financial items are negative by MNOK -0,2, which results in a loss 
before tax from continued operations of MNOK -4,8 compared with a 
loss of MNOK -11,2 in 2016. 

Liquidity and working capital  

The Group's cash flow from operations was negative by MNOK -13,7 in 
2017, compared to MNOK -4,9 in 2016. Adjusted for the non-cash trans-
action related to the spin-off of the pharma business, the following 
items explain the negative cash flow from operating activities in the pe-
riod; 
 

• MNOK 2,6 is attributable to the result in the supplement 
business area 

• MNOK -8,4 is attributable to the EBITDA loss in the pharma 
business area  

• MNOK -7,9 relates to investment in working capital 
 

The cash balance at the end of 2017 is MNOK 13,6, of which MNOK 0,26 
are restricted funds for tax deduction. 
 
A private placement towards Synergia Life Sciences Pvt Ltd. (Synergia) 
was approved in an Extraordinary General Meeting on November 24th, 
2017, where 560 000 new shares at a par value of NOK 3 per share were 
issued. The subscription price for the shares were NOK 12,5 per share, 
giving net proceeds of NOK 6,94 million when including the transaction 
cost related to the private placement.   
  
The shares were registered in the Norwegian Business Registry 
(Brønnøysundregistrene) on December 4th, 2017. Due to a delayed 
process for Synergia to acquire a Norwegian securities account (VPS ac-
count), the shares were not registered for trade in VPS until February 
2nd, 2018.   
  
As per 31 December 2017, the registered share capital is NOK 
54,389,799 based on a total number of shares issued equal to 18 129 
933 each with a face value of NOK 3. The company holds a total of 7 143 
own shares, hence the recognized share capital, adjusted for own 
shares, is NOK 54,389,799. 
 
As of 31.12.2017, the company had approx. 920 shareholders. 
 
The balance per 31 Dec 2017 shows a positive equity of MNOK 111 after 
a positive result for the period, including result from discontinued op-
erations, of MNOK 26,6. Total debt and equity is MNOK 157,2 against 
MNOK 96,3 in 2016. 
 
The company is listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange's Axess list since 30 
January 2008, and on NASDAQ First North in Stockholm since 18 May 
2016, under the ticker code "natto". 

PharmaCo transaction 

NattoPharma sold the pharma business to PharmaCo AS in a transac-
tion that was signed on December 15th 2017, and was effective from 
December 27th 2017 after completion of several closing conditions re-
lated to the transaction.  
  
The pharma business was sold for a total amount of NOK 65,5 million 
and was all financed by a seller’s credit provided from NattoPharma to 
PharmaCo. After completing the transaction, NattoPharma converted 
NOK 8,0 million of the outstanding seller’s credit to equity in PharmaCo 
at a share price of NOK 5 per share, where each share has a nominal 
value of NOK 1 per share. NattoPharma had before this conversion ap-
prox. 1,5% of the outstanding shares in PharmaCo. NattoPharma own-
ership in PharmaCo after the conversion is 45,85% where NattoPharma 
hold 1 630 000 shares of a total number of 3 555 243 shares issued in 
the company. NattoPharma has thus a significant interest in PharmaCo 
and has recognized the transaction according to the rules of invest-
ments in associated companies.   
    
Total gain for NattoPharma related to this transaction is NOK 65,5 mil-
lion. Based on the accounting principle for equity accounted investees, 
only the portion of the gain related to the ownership by other investors 
in PharmaCo (i.e., 54,15%) has been recognized in the Income State-
ment for 2017. This amounts to NOK 35 468 250. The remaining 
amount, NOK 30 031 750, is partly netted against the book value of the 
investment in PharmaCo, NOK 8 030 000, and partly reported as a long-
term liability related to deferred gain on the sale of the business, NOK 
22 001 750. This deferred gain will be recognized in the Income State-
ment in accordance with any future change in ownership percentage, 
where NattoPharma potentially is diluted as an effect of capital injec-
tions in the pharma entity. This non-current liability is therefore not 
representing any cash transaction in the future.  

R&D activities 

Research and Development (R&D) has been an important part of the 
company's business since its inception in 2004. Following the sale of the 
pharma business to PharmaCo, NattoPharma will now focus future R&D 
investments in product development more than clinical research and 
support of ongoing and new studies.  



 

7 ANNUAL REPORT 2017 – NATTOPHARMA ASA 
 

 
Going forward, the company will continue to focus on the development 
of MenaQ7® Vitamin K2, in new formulations that make the vitamin  
easy to access in a wide range of finished products - both as supple-
ments and enriched food (i.e., functional foods) for all consumers. The 
company will also continue to secure the rights to such new technology 
through patents. 
  
Expenses related to R&D are continuously expensed in the income 
statement to the extent they cannot be justified as development cost 
related to new products. Any cost that can be justified as development 
of a new product will be treated according to the accounting principles 
described in note 2.6 to the financial statements. R&D activities in 2017 
amounted to MNOK 6,2 (MNOK 5,9 in 2016), whereof MNOK 4,6 
(MNOK 4,6 in 2016) was related to the pharma activity. 
  
NattoPharma is the leading global supplier of vitamin K2 as MK-7, under 
the brand MenaQ7®. The product is of the highest quality and is offered 
in a wide range of formulations that are tailored to the needs of indi-
vidual customers. The health claims used for the product are supported 
by scientific data and results from studies conducted with the compa-
ny's products. The company's focus on research and product develop-
ment continuously increases knowledge about the health benefits and 
applications of vitamin K2 as MK-7. This work contributes constantly to 
new product offerings, as well as strengthening of the company's intel-
lectual property rights around its own products and applications. 
  
NattoPharma develops innovative solutions for MenaQ7® as an ingre-
dient in other products that provide improved ease of use and chemical 
stability. The company adheres to the current regulatory framework for 
the use of health claims around vitamin K2 in all geographic segments 
in which it operates. NattoPharma sets the customer's needs first by 
offering a wide range of products and providing technical support to 
customers' product developments. The company continues its efforts 
to find the best and most relevant technology for using the product to 
meet customer needs in an ever-expanding and more fragmented mar-
ket. 
  
Through NattoPharma's launch of the Advance Delivery Platform (ADP), 
MenaQ7®'s product solutions have been expanded considerably, ena-
bling MenaQ7® to combine in several attractive applications with all 
consumer segments through multiple and new market channels. Based 
on stability data from testing different formulations, several new vita-
min K2 solutions were launched throughout the year 2017. Nat-
toPharma is alone in providing such a platform of product solutions. 
  
NattoPharma has over the years developed a portfolio of patents from 
data generated through the company's historical investment in R&D. 
This patent portfolio has been transferred to PharmaCo in the transac-
tion related to the pharma business completed in December 2017. Nat-
toPharma has retained the exclusive right to use all patents and other 
scientific data transferred to PharmaCo, as well as all future develop-
ment taking place in PharmaCo, for use in the supplement business. 
This allows the company to protect its unique product features and 
health claims related to vitamin K2 and the MenaQ7® brand. 
 
Through a constant focus and active commitment to clinical documen-
tation of positive health effects as a result of vitamin K2 intake, Nat-
toPharma stands steadily in position as a leader in this category. The 
work the company does to educate both industry and consumers helps 
to shape future opportunities in the market. 

Risk areas 

The company's Board of Directors and Management conducts ongoing 
analysis of the risk factors facing the company. An investment in equi-
ties implies risk and potential investors should carefully assess the risk 
outlined in this section, as well as the information contained elsewhere 
in this Annual Report with accompanying accounts and notes before 
deciding to invest in the company's shares. If any of the following risks 
materialize, this could adversely affect the company and / or its busi-
ness, financial position, operating profit, liquidity, and / or prospects. 
The value of the company's shares can be reduced, and investors may 
lose all or part of their investments. The order in which the risks are 

presented does not necessarily reflect the likelihood that they occur or 
the extent of their potential impact on the company. 
 
An investment in the company's shares is only suitable for investors 
who understand risk factors associated with this type of investment and 
can afford a loss of all or part of the investment. All risks that are known 
to the company or as the company considers material is described in 
this section. 
 
Risks related to the company’s business and the industry in which it 
operates 

 
Activity levels 

The company's business is exposed to the economic cycle in the market. 
Changes in the overall financial situation may affect the demand for the 
company's products, thereby affecting the company's financial position 
and profit. Since the company's business is concentrated in a single in-
dustry, the company may be more exposed to special economic, politi-
cal, regulatory, environmental, or other developmental features than a 
company that has a more diverse business. 
 

Competition and strategic choices 

Competition is a constant threat to the company's success. The com-
petitive situation implies that high demands are set regarding the com-
pany's board and management, and the long-term strategic choices 
that have been made. There is a possibility that new companies can en-
ter the market for vitamin K2 distribution and thereby increase the level 
of competition in the market. In such a situation, the market status for 
the company can be significantly more challenging and lead to an un-
foreseen decline in sales. 
 
The competence of the Board and Management, and the ability to 
make the right strategic choices in a dynamic business environment can 
have a significant effect on the company's future financial performance 
and position.  
 

Protection and ownership of intellectual property 

The company relies on intellectual property rights (IPR) and patents 
regulated by law, in addition to contractual restrictions, to protect im-
portant property rights. If these rights are not adequately protected, 
the company's ability to compete and generate revenue may be ad-
versely affected. 
 
Furthermore, the company may risk not obtaining adequate patent 
protection on the technology embodied in its products and manufac-
turing processes. There is also a risk of intrusion of IPR from third par-
ties, which potentially impedes the company's business or leads to 
losses for the company. In such cases, expenses for legal counsellors 
may be significant. 
 
The company's access and ability to use and claim rights related to its 
patents and other IPR developed by consultants or other collaborators 
on behalf of the company relies on the ability of the company to fulfil 
its payment obligations related to its patents, and agreements with af-
filiated third parties. Failure to make such payments as they mature 
may result in the company being deprived of its patents and, in extreme 
consequence, the basis for continued operation. 
 

Regulatory and environmental risk 

The company operates in different jurisdictions around the world. In-
ternational operations increase the level of regulatory requirements 
and guidelines to which the company must relate. Changes to the reg-
ulations and environmental provisions in the relevant jurisdictions may 
therefore affect the company's business. Approvals from the EU Com-
mission, FDA, and similar authorities in other jurisdictions are necessary 
to be allowed to market the company's products in Europe, the United 
States, and other relevant areas, respectively. It cannot be guaranteed 
that the company will receive and / or be able to obtain the future nec-
essary permits to commercialize the products. Regulatory approvals 
can be withdrawn, denied, delayed, or limited for various reasons, and 
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since regulatory agencies around the world have different approval re-
quirements, this may have a negative effect on the company. 
 

Market access 

The company relies on entering into distribution, cooperation, offer, 
and / or license agreements to generate and increase revenue. 
 
The introduction and establishment of new agreements can take from 
3 months to several years. From the first contact and presentation of 
MenaQ7®, customers can spend up to 4 to 5 years to decide if the prod-
uct can be launched in their range. Once such a decision is taken, the 
product will normally be launched within a period of 5 to 8 months. 
There can be no guarantees that the company will in the future be able 
to enter into such agreements to generate sufficient revenue required 
for the continuation of the business. Should such agreements for vari-
ous reasons be delayed, reduced, or terminated, this may adversely af-
fect the company's operations and results.  
 

Product risk 

The company's business is dependent on the continued supply of the 
vitamin K2 raw material in natural or synthetic form. As of December 
2017, the company buys raw materials from several independent sup-
pliers, which reduces the risk associated with the lack of vitamin K2. In 
order to ensure further access to raw materials, the company has im-
plemented measures in 2017 to increase access to MenaQ7® Phar-
maPure by entering into a strategic contract with a new supplier. This 
will reduce the risk associated with reliance on one critical supplier.  
 

Disputes and compensation claims  

The company may from time to time be involved in disputes and / or 
legal actions that could lead to significant losses and / or expenses for 
the company and its business. No warranties can be made for the com-
pany to succeed in litigation or disagreement with third parties. 
 
The company faces an inherent risk of damages in the event that use, 
or abuse of the company's products can lead to personal injury or 
death. The company has not received any such claims to date, but it 
cannot be ruled out that such requirements may be promoted in the 
future. All such claims against the company, irrespective of their valid-
ity, may constitute a significant weakening of the company's financial 
position. This would be due to the ensuing legal proceedings and the 
stresses they may amount to the company's financial resources, time, 
and attention from management. 
 

Market risk 

NattoPharma is not the only company that has Novel Food approval in 
Europe, but the company wishes to build comparative competitive ad-
vantages using its IPR strategy, including protection through patents 
and the building of European trademarks through EFSA. NattoPharma 
continues the process of applications for "Health Claims" within the car-
diovascular area for its MenaQ7® products to the European Food Safety 
Authority, EFSA. 
 
The company's patent situation indicates that only NattoPharma and 
the customers purchasing NattoPharma products have the right to 
claim that MK-7, a vitamin K2 consumed in foods or as supplements, 
has positive health effects for the cardiovascular system. This applies to 
both Europe and the United States. MK-7 is marketed through Nat-
toPharma's brand name MenaQ7®. 
 
In the North American market, NattoPharma is represented directly 
through the subsidiary NattoPharma USA, Inc., which was established 
in the second half of 2013. There is now a total of 6 employees in Nat-
toPharma USA, Inc. It is the Board's assessment that it is a prerequisite 
for success in the American market that the company is present, and 
that the office is serviced with local knowledge and expertise. 

Financial risk factors 

Liquidity risk 

For quite some time the company has been focusing on Research and 
Development (R&D) of its new natural-identical synthesized vitamin K2, 
MenaQ7® PharmaPure, as well as new distribution methods for vitamin 
K2 in general. By 2017, this production has been put into operation, and 
with the exception of some delays in delivery in the third quarter of 
2017, this has resulted in a significant increase in access to a commer-
cially competitive product. The company's management considers the 
future liquidity need for R&D activities to decline, while investment in 
working capital in connection with the company's planned growth will 
increase. Barring any unforeseen events, of which the company does 
not have direct control over, the management's assessment is that the 
company's liquidity by the end of 2017, as well as updated forecasts for 
the short and medium term, indicate that new share issues will not be 
required for operational needs. Any investments, other than ordinary 
operations, may however entail the risk that future capital require-
ments will arise. 
 

Currency exchange risk 

The cost side is mainly related to NOK, USD, and EUR, while revenues 
are mainly USD and EUR. The exposure to currency risk is continuously 
monitored. EURO has strengthened against NOK by almost 12,2% in 
2017, while USD weakened by 3,3% in the same period. The average 
exchange rate in 2017 between EUR and USD has strengthened by 3,3% 
in the favour of EUR. The company's management and the Board have 
continuously assessed the risk and have not seen the need to imple-
ment measures to limit the currency risk. If necessary, financial instru-
ments will be evaluated to reduce this exposure, especially where 
credit will be given to major customers.  
 

Credit risk 

Credit risk has been limited due to the use of advance payments on de-
livery for new customers, as well as limited credit for the largest cus-
tomers. This situation is changing as new contracts are negotiated with 
major international customers that require significant credit periods. 
This will place greater demands on monitoring and the follow-up of the 
continuous credit exposure, and the company has implemented credit 
evaluation and follow-up procedures to accommodate and mitigate 
this risk.  
 
The company has not experienced any losses in connection with cus-
tomer credit terms in 2017, and management’s assessment is that 
there is no major risk in the company’s trade receivables at the end of 
2017. 
 
The company provided a seller’s credit in conjunction with the Phar-
maCo transaction, completed in December 2017, where the carrying 
amount at the balance sheet date is at its full value. The board and the 
management has assessed the risk related to the provided credit, and 
have not, based on the applicable criteria in IFRS, found any reason for 
a provision related to any risk in this long-term receivable at year end 
2017. The company has however, in conjunction with the implementa-
tion of new IFRS standards as of January 1st 2018 performed a new as-
sessment based on applicable rules, and this has resulted in an adjust-
ment of the carrying amount in the opening balance of 2018. See Note 
2.22 and 24 for more information. 
 

Interest rate risk 

The company is, to a limited extent, exposed to risk with regard to fu-
ture interest rate fluctuations, beyond the above-mentioned currency 
exposure, and there are low deposit rates on surplus liquidity, which 
are managed based on a low-risk strategy. The company's excess liquid-
ity is placed on the account with DNB Bank ASA. 
 
A significant increase in the overall interest rate level may adversely af-
fect the company's results. Increased interest rate risk can also affect 
capital costs and reduce the possibility of acquiring new capital in the 
future, if necessary. 
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Ability to meet liquidity requirements and to finance future 
operations 

There is a risk that the company will need additional financing in the 
future; for example, due to lower sales revenues or higher costs than 
expected, investment in new business areas, or due to unforeseen debt 
or other investments. The company cannot guarantee that it will be 
able to obtain necessary capital, either as equity and / or foreign capi-
tal, at acceptable terms and within the required timeframe. 
 

Shareholders condition 

There are no provisions in the company's articles of association that re-
strict the right to sell the company's shares. There is no arrangement 
for employee shares or agreements between shareholders that limit 
the ability to sell or exercise voting rights for the company's shares. Nor 
is the company a party to any agreements regarding shareholder rela-
tionships. 

Corporate Social Responsibility 

NattoPharma is focused on creating and introducing to the market of-
ferings valuable to society by delivering measurable health benefits via 
scientifically validated products and technologies.  These contribute by 
tackling disease development and potentially reducing government 
healthcare spend.  The company aspires to be a good corporate citizen 
in the geographies in which it operates and in which its products are 
found and has a strong commitment to promoting honest and ethical 
business conduct by all employees, in compliance with the laws that 
govern the conduct of its business, and with an impeccable reputation 
for corporate trustworthiness.  
 
NattoPharma believes that a commitment to honesty, ethical conduct 
and integrity is an invaluable asset that builds trust with its customers, 
suppliers, employees, shareholders and local communities. To imple-
ment its commitment, the company has developed a code of conduct 
of business ethics and corporate social responsibility (the Code).  The 
Code applies to all entities controlled by the company and all employ-
ees, directors and officers of the company (Employees). All Employees 
are required to read and understand the Code. The Code shall be re-
flected, promoted and implemented in policies, decisions and actions 
and the Company shall encourage suppliers, consultants and other 
business partners within its sphere of influence to adopt these princi-
ples. The Code was adopted on April 21st, 2015 can be found on the 
corporate website.   

Climate Change and the Environment 

NattoPharma’s policy is to operate its business in accordance with all 
applicable environmental laws and regulations to ensure protection of, 
and minimal impact upon both the environment and climate change.  
All employees should conduct themselves in a manner that is consistent 
with this policy.  NattoPharma does not conduct business that pollutes 
the external environment beyond what is the normal result of a primar-
ily office-based operation.  The influence on the environment is pre-
dominantly through energy consumption, waste generation, and travel, 
and the company is committed to minimising these activities and their 
negative impact by implementing procedures to ensure that energy and 
materials are used efficiently and that waste and residual products are 
minimal.  

Human Rights 

The company is committed to observing and respecting the human 

rights of all individuals in accordance with internationally recognised 

standards, being the UN Universal Declaration of Human Rights.  Nat-

toPharma also expects its suppliers and partners to adhere to and op-

erate in line with these same guidelines and likewise ensure compliance 

by their sub-suppliers.   

The company prohibits discrimination against any employee or pro-

spective employee based on sex, race, colour, age, religion, sexual pref-

erence, marital status, national origin, disability, ancestry, political 

opinion, or any other basis prohibited by the laws that govern its oper-

ations. 

At the end of 2017, there were 14 employees in the group, which in-

cludes the United States subsidiary, versus 12 in 2016. At year-end, the 

proportion of women amounted to 35,7% and the Board of Directors 

had two female members out of five.   No issues related to discrimina-

tion or gender equality have been registered in 2017 and it is not con-

sidered necessary to take any further measures to ensure equal oppor-

tunities.   

NattoPharma is, to the extent that it is possible, ensuring that human 

rights also are taken care of by our suppliers and partners. 

Workers’ Rights 

The Company shall conduct itself in a manner designed to ensure a 

healthy work environment where all employees feel safe and secure 

and are valued for the diversity that they bring to the business.  Nat-

toPharma honours all domestic and international laws and regulations 

designed to protect the company’s personnel and this ensures regu-

lated working conditions related to working hours, holidays, remuner-

ation, pensions, and discrimination.  Employees should conduct them-

selves in a manner that is consistent with this policy. 

The company prohibits unlawful harassment. Employees are expected 

to treat one another with respect. “Harassment” includes any conduct 

likely to cause offense or humiliation to any person or that might, on 

reasonable grounds, be perceived by a reasonable person to place a 

condition on employment or on any opportunity for training or promo-

tion. 

No claims or accidents have been reported involving any group employ-

ees in 2017. Absence due to illness in 2017 amounts to a total of 15 

days (2016: 11 days), where 100% relates to absenteeism registered via 

self-registration. There has been no absence due to long-term illness or 

injury. 

Ethics and Anti-corruption 

NattoPharma is strongly opposed to all forms of corruption and is com-

mitted to undertaking business in accordance with the highest ethical 

standards, with a zero-tolerance policy for corruption. No issues related 

to ethics or corruption have been registered in 2017. 

Parent Company - Annual Accounts 2017 

Sales, Result, and Equity  

Amounts in NOK 1.000 2017 2016 

Operating Income 50 550 34 217 
Cost of Goods -32 107 -24 934 
Gross Margin 18 443 9 283 

Gross Margin in % 36,48% 27,13% 
 
The parent company reported a turnover of MNOK 50,5 against MNOK 
34,2 for 2016. Cost of goods amounts to MNOK 32,1, which gives a 
gross profit of MNOK 18,4 in 2017 against MNOK 9,3 in 2016 after cost 
of MNOK 24,9 . The gross margin is 36,48% versus 27,1% for the same 
period in 2016.  
 
Other operating expenses amount to MNOK 13,7 compared to MNOK 
11,5 in the same period of 2016. Net financial items are positive by 
MNOK 2,0, which gives a pre-tax loss from continued operations for the 
period of MNOK -4,0 compared with a negative result of MNOK -9,6 for 
the same period in 2016. 
 
Net result for the year, including the result from the sale of the pharma 
business, is MNOK 54,7 compared to a loss of MNOK -15,3 in 2016. 
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The company's cash flow from operations was negative by MNOK 9,9 
per 31.12.2017 compared with MNOK -2,3 per 31.12.2016. The nega-
tive cash flow is mainly explained by the operating loss (adjusted for 
depreciations) of MNOK 5,4 and investment in working capital.  
 
The balance sheet shows total equity of MNOK 165,8 and total debt and 
equity capital is MNOK 177,8 per 31.12.2017. 

Going concern assumption 

The Board considers that the requirements for the going concern as-
sumption have been met and the annual accounts have been prepared 
on this basis.     

 
Allocation of the year's profit 

In the opinion of the Board of Directors, the income statement and bal-
ance sheet with notes, accounts, and cash flow statement provide com-
prehensive information about the operations and position at year-end. 
 
The Board proposes that the company's profit is transferred to retained 
equity: MNOK 54,7.  

Liquidity and working capital for 2017 

The cash balance as at 31 December 2017 was MNOK 10,2, of which 
MNOK 0.26 are restricted tax deductions for employees.  
 
Otherwise, information is provided for the Group. 

The company's prospects 

In recent years, NattoPharma has been through a phase where research 
and development has been a major focus. With a successful develop-
ment of a synthetic alternative to the company's natural vitamin K2, 
and a production process that was fully operational in 2017, the Board 
and the Management feel very positive about the future development. 
Developments in the vitamin K2 markets as an ingredient in health and 
nutraceutical products are still in the development phase, and the 
Board believes strongly that NattoPharma is well positioned to take a 
large part of this market as it is further developed and mature. 

Events after the balance sheet date  

With effect as of 8th February 2018 the former CEO of NattoPharma, 
Daniel Rosenbaum, was transferred to an interim role as CEO for Phar-
maCo AS. The current CFO, Kjetil Ramsøy, has been appointed Interim 
CEO for NattoPharma and will act as both CEO and CFO in the interim 
period.  
 
There are no other significant events after the balance sheet date that 
is not taken into account in the information presented in this report. 
 
 

Corporate Governance in NattoPharma ASA 

Statement of corporate governance 

The Board strives to comply with the Norwegian Code of Practice for 
Corporate Governance, revised October 30, 2014 (see www.nues.no) 
and Section 3-3b of the Norwegian Accounting Act. Compliance with 
the recommendation is based on the "follow or explain" principle and 
the further review follows the systematics of the latest revised version 
of NUES. 
 
The company's principles for good corporate governance will lay the 
foundation for long-term value creation for the benefit of shareholders, 
employees, and society as a whole. The principles shall clarify role shar-
ing between shareholders, the Board and daily Management beyond 
what is stated in the legislation. The principles will help to strengthen 
the trust of the company among shareholders, the capital market, and 
other stakeholders. The Board of Directors will at all times ensure that 

the company has good corporate governance and is subject to annual 
assessment and discussion in the Board, as well as the text of this chap-
ter in the Annual Report. 
 
The Board has adopted ethical guidelines at a board meeting held April 
21, 2015. 

Business conduct 

The company's activities are, in accordance with the company's articles 
of association, directly and via ownership interests in other companies, 
to develop, distribute, and sell nutritional products, as well as related 
services. The company is particularly interested in business opportuni-
ties that relate to vitamin K2 and its positive effect to improve skeletal 
and cardiovascular health. This includes investments in R&D and IPR 
(patents / documentation) relating to the use of vitamin K2 as a com-
mercial product.  

Share capital and dividends  

The Board continuously assesses the need for working capital and cap-
ital for new investments necessary to meet future growth and the cur-
rent dividend policy. As of 31 December, 2017, the equity was MNOK 
165,8. The company's share capital per 31 December 2017 is NOK 
54,389,799 is divided into 18,129,933 shares each with a nominal value 
of NOK 3. The company owns 7,143 own shares, and net booked equity 
is therefore NOK 54,368,370. 
 
As the company is in a phase of continued rapid growth, investment in 
working capital will be necessary. For this reason, the Board will not 
propose any dividend distribution for 2017. 
 
 
At the Annual General Meeting of 15 May 2017, the following resolu-
tion was adopted pursuant to sections 9-4 and 9-5 of the Public Limited 
Liability Companies Act; 

Repurchase of own shares: 

Power of attorney to acquire shares in NattoPharma ASA on one or 
more occasions for the purpose of owning or exercising consideration 
for the acquisition of other companies or businesses, joint ventures, or 
joint ventures within NattoPharma's purpose, with a total denomina-
tion of up to NOK 5,270,979.90. The authorization also includes a con-
tractual pledge in shares in NattoPharma ASA. The Board is free to 
choose the way in which the acquisition and disposal of own shares will 
take place. The authorization is not intended to facilitate or prevent 
takeover bids where NattoPharma ASA is the target company. Under 
this authorization, the Board may pay a minimum of NOK 0.01 per share 
or maximum market price per share on the day the offer is submitted, 
but the maximum amount does not exceed NOK 30 per share. The au-
thorization is valid until the Annual General Meeting in 2019, but no 
longer than 15 May 2019. 

Power of Attorney I 

Power of attorney to increase the company's share capital by up to NOK 
5,268,000 corresponding to 1,756,000 new shares each denominated 
NOK 3. Within this framework, the authorization may be used several 
times within the term of the authorization. The subscription price and 
other terms of the shares are determined by the Board. The authoriza-
tion may be used to further develop the company's areas of priority by 
acquiring businesses against payment in new shares or by otherwise 
increasing the share capital. The shareholders’ pre-emptive rights may 
be set aside, cf. the Public Limited Liability Companies Act § 10-4 cf. 10-
5. The authorization is valid until the Annual General Meeting in 2018, 
however, no longer than until 30th June 2018. The authorization also 
includes share capital increases against non-cash payments and the 
right to impose special obligations on the company, cf. the Public Lim-
ited Liability Companies Act § 10-2. The authorization also includes the 
adoption of merger resolutions pursuant to the Public Limited Compa-
nies Act § 13-5. 
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No shares under this authorization have been issued by the end of 
2017. 
 
Furthermore, the general meeting passed the following resolution pur-
suant to the Public Limited Liability Companies Act section 10-14; 

Power of Attorney II 

Power of attorney to increase the company's share capital by up to NOK 
5,268,000 equivalent to 1,756,000 new shares each denominated NOK 
3. Within this framework, the authorization may be used several times 
within the term of the mandate. The subscription price and other terms 
is determined by the Board of Directors. The new shares may be sub-
scribed by employees, other resource persons and members of the 
Board of Directors, and the shareholders’ pre-emptive rights may thus 
be set aside, cf. the Public Limited Liability Companies Act § 10-4 cf. 10-
5. The authorization does not comprise capital increase by non-cash 
payment or a right to charge the company with special obligations, cf. 
Public Limited Liability Companies Act § 10-2, and does not include a 
merger resolution, cf. Public Limited Liability Companies Act § 13-5. The 
authorization shall be valid until the 2019 Annual General Meeting, but 
no longer than 30th June 2019.  
 
The maturity of the above authorization is not in accordance with the 
recommendation in NUES. 
 
No shares under this authorization have been issued by the end of 
2017. 

Equal treatment of shareholders and transactions with 
closely related parties 

The company's goal is to maximize the return on shareholders' invested 
capital over time. It is important for the Board to ensure that there are 
competent people in the company's governing bodies and to ensure 
that the company's accounts have been audited by a qualified and in-
dependent auditor. The company also believes that it is important that 
information is communicated in a manner that does not favour any 
shareholders or stakeholders and that the information provided is fair 
and provides a true and fair view of the company's position and its busi-
ness. NattoPharma has only one share class with equal voting rights. All 
shareholders have equal rights to dividends and equal rights in the case 
of share capital expansion. 

Free transferability 

There are no restrictions on the transferability of the company's shares. 
The company's shares were listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange's Axess 
list on 30 January 2008. The company is subject to the requirements 
and rules applicable to all companies listed on Oslo Børs. 
 
On 18 May 2015, the company was listed on the NASDAQ First North 
stock exchange in Stockholm as a secondary listing.  

General assembly 

The company adheres to section 5 of the Norwegian Public Limited 
Companies Act and the Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate Gov-
ernance, paragraph 6, regarding shareholders' rights in order to facili-
tate the participation of shareholders in exercising their rights at the 
company's general meeting. Notice of invitation to the Annual General 
Meeting and case documents to the general meeting, as far as possible, 
including the nomination committee's recommendation, will be availa-
ble on the company's website no later than 21 days before the general 
meeting is held. In addition, the general meeting will be convened in 
writing. All shareholders have the right to attend, possibly meeting by 
proxy. The general meeting shall approve the annual accounts and the 
board's report, elect the company's Board, election committee and ap-
prove their fees, and elect the auditor and approve his fees.  

Election committee  

The company has an election committee, as per the articles of associa-
tion. The nomination committee has been published through publica-
tion of the company's general meeting protocol. The nomination com-
mittee proposes candidates to the Board to be elected at the compa-
ny's Annual General meeting. As of today, the election committee con-
sists of two members, Frank E. Bjordal (leader) and Kim Øien, both 
elected at the Annual General Meeting on 20 May 2016, for a period of 
2 years. According to the Articles of Association the nomination com-
mittee should propose its own guidelines. The members of the nomi-
nation committee are independent of the board and other senior exec-
utives. As the Board has not prepared an evaluation report, such a re-
port has not been dealt with by the nomination committee. 

Composition of the board, governance, and independence 

The company does not have a corporate assembly. The Board has over-
all responsibility for the company's management. Today there are 5 
members of the Board (three men and two women). All requirements 
for the number of Board members, the composition of the Board with 
regard to independence, and the number of women (ref. Norwegian 
law applicable from 1 January 2008) are fulfilled. The Chairman of the 
Board has been in office for 3 years and was re-elected at the Annual 
General Meeting in 2016 for two years and are hence up for election 
again at the Annual General Meeting in 2018. Two of the other four 
board members are also up for re-election in 2018, while two board 
members were elected for two years at the 2017 Annual General Meet-
ing. One of the Board's members owns shares in the company. All five 
Board members are considered independent and the Board's composi-
tion is thus in line with the Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate 
Governance, Section 8.  

The Board consists of the following members: 

Chairman of the Board Frode Marc Bohan (50) established Nat-
toPharma in 2004 and was an important driving force for the company 
to succeed in gaining access to several major customers from day one. 
Bohan worked as a sales and marketing director until 2007, and was 
responsible for the company passing 20 million in sales at the time. Bo-
han has established a series of companies in Norway and internation-
ally in the field of health and technology over the last 20 years. In addi-
tion, Bohan is Chairman of the Board of ImmunoPharma AS. Bohan is a 
shareholder in NattoPharma through Bohan & Co. AS, TG Montgomery 
AS, NxT Capital Ltd and  Blackrock OU with a total stake of 8,94 % per 
31 December 2017. Bohan also has 200,000 options in the company. 
 
Board member Katarzyna Zdzislaw Maresz (44) has a PhD in Immunol-
ogy and has experience from The Blood Research Institute, Milwaukee. 
She has also been a research assistant at Jagiellonian University, Medi-
cal College Krakow, Poland. Maresz has published several immunology 
studies, including the prestigious Nature Immunology Journal, and is a 
member of the American Association of Immunologists. Katarzyna 
Maresz owns 100,000 shares in the company and has 100,000 options.  
 
Board member Christopher von Schirach-Szmigiel (70) has a degree in 
economics and management and holds positions as guest professor in 
economics, strategy and management at New York University, Stock-
holm School of Business, Norway's Norwegian Business School in Ber-
gen, and Pennsylvania State University. Von Schirach-Szmigiel has also 
been a board member of Unilever Nordic, Stora Data, Ericsson Group, 
Audi-Volkswagen Scandinavia, and Porsche. Von Schirach-Szmigiel has 
also been on the boards of various universities in Sweden, the United 
States and Poland, and has been hired as an expert consultant for the 
Swedish state in shipping and shipbuilding. Christopher von Schirach-
Szmigiel owns no shares in the company and has 100,000 options. 
 
Board member Stefan Halldén (53) is the working chairman of Life Sci-
ence Sweden AB, a long-standing shareholder in NattoPharma, and an 
important contributor to the company's development. Halldén has ex-
tensive experience from international finance. Stefan Halldén, with re-
lated parties, owns 2,000 shares in the company, and has 50,000 op-
tions 
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Board member Annette Elmqvist (69) graduated from the Uppsala Uni-
versity. Elmqvist started her career at the Swedish Medical Products 
Agency, and later gained 20 years of experience in pharmaceuticals in 
the field of quality, production, and operations. Elmqvist is currently 
engaged in the position of VP Quality Assurance in Scandinavian Bio-
pharma AB. Broad experience in the pharmaceutical industry, and 
within production, in particular, makes Elmqvist an important resource 
for NattoPharma in the process of further developing the company. An-
nette Elmqvist owns no shares in the company, and has 50.000 options 

The Board’s work 

The Board of Directors is acting according to the approved boards rules 
of procedure which were adopted by the Board on 14 April 2008. The 
Board of Directors, elected at the Annual General Meeting on 15 May 
2017, has drawn up a plan for board meetings in 2017. The Board has 
appointed itself as the Audit Committee. The Board has not conducted 
an own evaluation in the form of a separate report, as this has not been 
the agenda for the new Board since its accession on 15 May 2017. The 
Board has conducted 9 meetings during 2017. 

Risk management and internal control 

The Board ensures that good internal control is carried out and that 
there are appropriate risk management systems that will help eliminate 
unnecessary risks to which the company is exposed. Typical risk expo-
sure that the company is exposed to includes operational risk, currency 
risk, financial risk, and risk related to the markets in which the company 
is engaged in laws and regulations in individual countries. 
 
The Board strives to hold an Annual Meeting for review of the compa-
ny's finances, risk exposure, and internal control with the company's 
auditor. A meeting was held with the company's auditor in 2017. 
 
The Board helps to ensure the quality of internal and external reporting, 
that the company operates commercially soundly with regard to 
adopted standards, and that the company adheres to applicable laws 
and regulations. The company has established Board instructions and 
instructions for the General Manager. The company has implemented 
Ethical Guidelines and established a framework for internal control per 
date of approval of the annual accounts for 2017. 

Board remuneration 

The Board's remuneration is approved by the company's General Meet-
ing and refer to minutes of the Annual General Meeting dated 15 May 
2017 for further clarification by the Nomination Committee of the Com-
pany's Annual General Meeting 2017. 
 
In 2017, Frode Bohan, Chairman of the Board, received a compensation 
of NOK 728,873, as well as a contribution to a pension scheme of NOK 
27,216 for work in addition to normal board work. 
 
Routines have been introduced for agreements with the Board mem-
bers to be approved by the Board. Such routines have been introduced 
in the Board of Directors of 14 April 2008. 

Remuneration to senior executives 

The CEO's and senior executives’ compensations for 2017 are described 
in note 21 in the annual accounts. Pursuant to section 6-16a of the Pub-
lic Limited Companies Act, the Board has prepared a statement on the 
determination of salary and other remuneration to the CEO and other 
senior executives. 
  
The Board of Directors of the Company is responsible for determining 
the remuneration of the CEO, and the CEO is in consultation with the 
Board again responsible for determining the remuneration of senior ex-
ecutives. In defining the criteria underlying the wage determination 
guidelines, the underlying principle is that the total salary package 
should reflect the responsibilities and duties of the individual in the 

management team, and that the employee contributes to the long-
term value creation of the company. It is crucial that the company can 
offer competitive conditions in order to attract people with the quali-
ties and competencies necessary to support the strategic development 
of the company, nationally as well as internationally. 
 
The company's employees participate in the company's pension and in-
surance scheme through DNB Livsforsikring AS. 

Information and communication 

It is NattoPharma's policy that all shareholders should be treated 
equally as regards access to information relevant to evaluating and val-
uing the company, and that the company will receive and appreciate 
the shareholders' views and interest in the company's operations, re-
sults and strategy. NattoPharma strives to present financial statements 
and other financial reporting that its investors will fully trust and satisfy 
the requirements of Oslo Børs for listed companies (as a result of the 
company's shares being listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange's Axess list 
30 January 2008). NattoPharma's accounting practices indicate a high 
degree of transparency and are based on IFRS standards. Updated fi-
nancial information and other company-related information are posted 
on the company's website. The company has established guidelines for 
the company's contact with shareholders outside the General Meeting, 
which is available on the company's website www.nattopharma.com 
under "Investor Relations".  

Takeovers 

The Board of Directors has, inter alia, adopted the following principles 
for the treatment of any acquisition offer: 
 

• If the Board receives information about a possible or current 
takeover bid on the company's shares, the Board shall assist 
all shareholders to be treated equally and receive satisfac-
tory information at all times. 

• In the case of takeover bids on the company, the Board shall 
contribute to the operation of the company without inter-
ruption under normal operations. 

• In the case of takeover bids, the Board shall not actively pre-
vent the offer, unless special circumstances dictate that 
such an act will be in the best interest of the shareholders. 

• The Board of Directors shall not seek to prevent takeover 
bids by making use of power of attorney to issue new shares 
or to take other decisions to prevent the execution of the 
offer. 

• If an offer is received, the Board shall publish its assessment 
of the offer and a recommendation to the shareholders to 
accept or reject the offer. The Board shall work to ensure 
that shareholders have sufficient time to decide on the bid. 

• The Board of Directors will continue to develop guidelines 
and principles for how the company will handle a possible 
takeover bid on the company's shares. 

Auditor 

Deloitte AS is the company's auditor, elected at the Annual General 
Meeting on 9 May 2014. The auditor has been appointed by the Gen-
eral Meeting on behalf of all shareholders and the election has been 
conducted in accordance with laws and regulations. The auditor super-
vises accounting, annual accounts, and the annual financial closing, as 
well as verifies tax settlement before submission of tax return for the 
company. There will be at least 1 annual meeting with the Board with-
out presence from the company's Management, among other things, 
to review the company's internal control. A meeting was held in 2017 
to review the company's internal control in accordance with the Nor-
wegian Code of Practice for corporate governance paragraph 15. 
 
Remuneration to the auditor in 2017 is shown in Note 7 to the annual 
accounts. 
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DECLARATION BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
AND CEO 
 
We declare to the best of our conviction that the consolidated financial 
statements and the financial statement for the parent company for the 
period from 1 January to 31 December 2017 have been prepared in ac-
cordance with IFRS as determined by the EU, with additional disclosures 

required by the Accounting Act, and that the information  in the ac-
counts gives a true and fair view of the company's and the group's as-
sets, liabilities, financial position and overall results. We also declare 
that the annual report gives a true and fair view of the company's and 
the Group's development, results and position, together with a descrip-
tion of the most significant risk and uncertainty factors the company 
and the group face. 
 

 
 
 

Oslo, 9. April 2018 
Board of Directors, NattoPharma ASA 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

  

Frode Bohan Stefan Halldén

Chairman of the Board Board Director

Katarzyna Marez Christopher von Schirach-Smigiel

Board Director Board Director

Annette Elmqvist Kjetil Ramsøy

Board Director CEO NattoPharma ASA
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NATTOPHARMA CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF PROFIT AND LOSS 
 

PROFIT AND LOSS STATEMENT 
 NattoPharma Group 

Amounts in NOK 1.000 Note 2017 2016 

REVENUES    
Sales Revenue 4 66 418 51 830 
Other Revenue  188 1 512 

TOTAL REVENUE  66 606 53 342 

OPERATING COSTS    
Cost of Goods Sold  -35 013 -28 923 
Personnel Cost 5, 6 -18 534 -13 323 
Depreciation and amortisation 10, 11 -7 364 -6 897 
Other Operating Costs 7 -10 301 -12 560 

TOTAL OPERATING COSTS  -71 212 -61 703 

OPERATING RESULT  -4 606 -8 361 

FINANCE INCOME AND COST    
Interest Income  100 159 
Interest Expense  -22 -834 
Other Financial Expense  -95 - 
Net Currency Gain/Loss  -135 -2 123 

NET FINANCIAL RESULT  -152 -2 798 

ORDINARY RESULT BEFORE TAX  - 4 759 -11 159 
 

Tax Expense on Ordinary Result 8 678 656 

RESULT FROM CONTINUED OPERATIONS  -4 080 -10 503 
 

Result from Discontinued Operations (after tax) 22 27 071 -6 835 

ANNUAL RESULT  22 991 -17 338 

Basic earnings per share from continued operations 9 -0,23 -0,61 
Diluted earnings per share from continued operations 9 -0,23 -0,61 
Basic earnings per share including discontinued operations 9 1,31 -1,00 
Diluted earnings per share including discontinued operations 9 1,24 -1,00 

 
 

STATEMENT OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
 NattoPharma Group 

Amounts in NOK 1.000 Note 2017 2016 

ANNUAL RESULT  22 991 -17 338 
Other comprehensive income to be reclassified to profit or loss  
in subsequent period 

   

Translation differences  3 574 -2 314 

TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  26 565 -19 652 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD  26 565 -19 652 
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
 

ASSETS 
 NattoPharma Group 

Amounts in NOK 1.000 Note 2017 2016 

Intangible Assets    
Goodwill 10 7 426 6 857 
Intangible Assets – IP and patents 10 36 759 39 387 

Total Intangible Assets  44 185 46 244 

Tangible Assets    
Property, Plant & Equipment  1 715 2 410 

Total Tangible Assets  1 715 2 410 

Financial Assets    
Other Long-Term Receivables 24 57 500 - 
Other Financial Assets  168 - 

Total Financial Assets  57 668 - 

TOTAL ASSETS  103 569 48 654 

Current assets    
Inventory 13 12 953 3 767 
Trade Receivable and Other Receivables 14 27 113 24 108 
Bank Deposits and Cash 15 13 558 19 818 

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS  53 624 47 693 

TOTAL ASSETS  157 193 96 347 
 

EQITY AND DEBT 
 NattoPharma Group 

Amounts in NOK 1.000 Note 2017 2016 

Paid-in Equity    

Share capital 16 54 368 52 688 
Share Premium Reserve  118 346 113 087 

TOTAL PAID-IN EQUITY  172 715 165 775 

Accumulated losses  -68 002 -92 285 

Translation differences  6 291 2 717 

TOTAL EQUITY  111 004 76 207 

Long term debt    
Deferred tax Liability 8 4 393 4 787 

Deferred income from sale of business 22, 2 22 002 - 

TOTAL LONG-TERM DEBT  26 395 4 787 

Short term debt    
Accounts Payable  14 526 10 178 

Other Short-Term Debt 17 5 268 5 175 

TOTAL SHORT-TERM DEBT  19 793 15 353 
TOTAL DEBT  46 189 20 140 

TOTAL EQUITY AND DEBT  157 193 96 347 
 

 
Oslo, 9 April 2018 

Board of Directors of NattoPharma ASA 

 

Frode Bohan Stefan Halldén Annette Elmqvist

Chairman of the Board Board Director Board Director

Christopher von Schirach-Smigiel Katarzyna Marez Kjetil Ramsøy

Board Director Board Director CEO NattoPharma ASA
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
 NattoPharma Group 

Amounts in NOK 1.000 Note 2017 2016 

OPERATING ACTIVITIES    
Profit / -Loss before tax  22 312 -17 994 
Depreciation and amortisation 10, 11 7 364 6 897 
Non-Cash items from sale of Pharma Business 22, 24 -35 498 - 
Changes in working capital items:     
   Inventory 13 -9 186 2 560 
   Trade and other receivables 14, 21 -2 311 -4 826 
   Trade payable  4 348 6 669 
   Other short-term items  -768 1 757 

NET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  -13 740 -4 937 

INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES    
Investments in property, plant & equipment  -864 -1 477 

NET CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES  -864 -1 477 

FINANCING ACTIVITIES    
Proceeds from share issue / -Transactions Cost  6 939 1 109 

NET CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES  6 939 1 109 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 15 -7 665 -5 305 
Effect of currency  1 405 362 
Cash and cash equivalents 1.1.  19 818 24 761 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 31.12.  13 558 19 818 
 
 

CHANGES IN EQUITY 
 Share  

capital 
Own 

Shares 
Share  

premium 
Accumulated 

loss 
Translation 
Adjustment Total Equity 

Amounts in NOK 1.000       

Equity as per 01.01.2016 51 419 -21 113 269 -77 090 5 225 92 802 

Total comprehensive income for the period    -17 144 -2 508 -19 652 
Equity based remuneration    1 948  1 948 
Share issue 1 290     1 290 
Transaction costs   -182   -182 

EQUITY AS PER 31.12.2016 52 709 -21 113 087 -92 286 2 717 76 207 

Equity as per 01.01.2017 52 709 -21 113 087 -92 286 2 717 76 207 

Total comprehensive income for the period    22 991 3 574 26 565 
Share based remuneration    1 293  1 293 
Share issue 1 680  5 320   7 000 
Transaction costs   -61   -61 

EQUITY AS PER 31.12.2017 54 389 -21 118 346 -68 002 6 292 111 004 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
Note 1 – General Information 
The company is a publicly traded public limited company established in 2004, and 
the head office is located in Lilleakerveien 2B, in the municipality of Oslo. The 
company's product is the MenaQ7® brand, which is based on a substance Mena-
quinone-7, the natural vitamin K2, as well as a synthetically manufactured prod-
uct that is commercialized in the second half of 2015. 

 
The company's shares were listed on Oslo Børs' list Oslo Axess per. January 30, 
2008 and is listed on NASDAQ First North in Stockholm from 18 May 2015. 
 
The accounts were approved by the Board on 9th April , 2018. 
 
Note 2 – Summary of the most important accounting principles 
The annual accounts have been prepared for the Group for 2017 with compara-
tive figures for 2016 for the profit and loss statement, statement of other com-
prehensive income, statement of financial position, cash flow statement and 
changes in equity for the group. These principles have been applied consistently 
throughout all periods presented, unless otherwise stated in the description. 

Note 2.1. – Basis of presentation   

The consolidated financial statements of NattoPharma ASA have been prepared 
in accordance with EU-approved IFRSs and related interpretations, as well as the 
additional Norwegian disclosure requirements that follow from the Accounting 
Act, Stock Exchange Regulations and Stock Exchange Rules, which will be applied 
per 31.12.2017. The accounts have been prepared based on historical cost. 
 
Changes in accounting policies due to new or amended standards are performed 
retroactively unless otherwise specifically determined by a current standard. Re-
curring effect requires that results from previous periods and opening balance for 
such period have been restated. 

Note 2.2. – Segment reporting 

The company operates one segment for reporting purposes. The company offers 
vitamin k2, in natural and synthetic form, in several different geographic markets. 
Management considers risk profile and profitability to be approximately equal in 
all these geographic markets. Management and Board therefore consider the 
company's operation as a unit in assessments and decisions regarding allocation 
of resources and investments. 

Note 2.3 – Consolidation principles and business combinations 

As at 31.12.17, NattoPharma is a group consisting of a parent company with two 
subsidiaries, NattoPharma USA, Inc. located in the United States and Nat-
toPharma R & D Ltd, which is registered in Cyprus. 
 
The consolidated financial statements show the overall financial result and the 
total financial position when the parent company NattoPharma ASA and its con-
trolled ownership interests in other companies are presented as one financial 
unit. All companies have applied consistent principles, and all internal relation-
ships between the companies have been eliminated. Wholly-owned subsidiaries 
have been consolidated 100% line by line in the consolidated financial statements 
from the date on which the Group has control and is consolidated until the date 
that control ceases.  If the Group has control but owns less than 100% of its sub-
sidiaries, the minority share of profit after tax and equity is presented on its own 
lines.  
 
Investments in associates where the company has non-controlling interest, are 
recognized using the equity method. 
 
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. Acquisi-
tions will be accounted for from the time the Group has control, normally from 
the date all public approvals are registered. Assets and liabilities are valued at fair 
value. The residual value of the acquisition will constitute goodwill. If there are 
non-controlling interests in the acquired company, these will receive their share 
of assets and liabilities transferred. Transactions with non-controlling interests 
will be recorded against equity.  

Note 2.4. – Foreign currency translation and transactions 

Functional currency and presentation currency 
The accounts are measured in the currency used primarily in the economic area 
in which the entity operates (functional currency). The accounts are presented in 
NOK, which is the currency of the parent company.  
 
 
 
 
 

Transactions and balances in foreign currency 
The functional currency of the Group’s entities is the currency of their primary 
economic environment and transactions are entered into the accounts in the 
unit’s functional currency.  In the individual companies, transactions in foreign 
currencies are recorded at the rate of exchange at the date of the transaction.   
Monetary assets and liabilities are translated at year-end rates and any resulting 
exchange rate differences are taken to the income statement.   
On consolidation, assets and liabilities of subsidiaries reported in their functional 
currencies are translated to NOKs, the Group’s presentation currency, at year-end 
exchange rates according to Norges Bank.  Income and expense items are trans-
lated to NOKs at the monthly average rate.   
Differences arising from the retranslation of opening net assets of subsidiaries, 
together with differences arising from the translation of the net results for the 
year for subsidiaries, are recognised in net currency gain/loss.   

Note 2.5. – Tangible assets 

Tangible assets are valued at acquisition cost less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses. Acquisition costs include costs directly related to the acquisi-
tion of the asset. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis based on the 
expected useful life of the assets, as well as the expected residual value. When 
incurring expenses related to the asset after the investment, expenses are capi-
talized to the extent that it is likely that the company will have future economic 
benefits from them and that the expenses can be measured reliably. 
 
An annual assessment of the depreciation plan is made taking into account the 
remaining useful life and residual value. In case of changes in useful life and net 
asset value, the remaining depreciation plan is changed accordingly. Gains and 
losses on disposals of tangible fixed assets are recognized in the profit and loss 
account and make up the difference between the selling price and the book value. 

Note 2.6.- Research and development costs 

Research and development expenses are expensed continuously during the pe-
riod in which they are incurred, with the exception of those cases where the cri-
teria for capitalization in accordance with IAS 38 - Intangible Assets have been 
met. In these cases, the asset will be capitalized in the company's balance sheet 
and amortised over the estimated remaining life of the asset. 
 
The assessment of the fulfilment of the criteria in IAS 38, as well as the expected 
useful life of the capitalized assets, is based on management's estimates and es-
timates and may be subject to uncertainty. Research and development costs are 
expensed continuously during the period in which they are incurred, with the ex-
ception of those cases where the criteria for capitalization in accordance with IAS 
38 - Intangible Assets have been met. In these cases, the asset will be capitalized 
in the company's balance sheet and depreciated over the estimated remaining 
life of the asset. 

Note 2.7. - Intangible assets 

Intangible assets purchased externally are measured at cost. Acquisition cost of 
intangible assets acquired in business acquisitions is measured at fair value at 
acquisition date. In subsequent measurement, intangible assets are measured at 
acquisition cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment 
losses. 

Note 2.8. – Impairment of non-financial assets 

Note 2.8 – Impairment of non-financial assets 
 
The group reviews the need for impairment of goodwill and intangible assets on 
an annual basis by assessing the recoverable amount of each cash-generating unit 
to which the asset belongs.  The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value 
less costs of disposal, and value in use.  In assessing value in use, the estimated 
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a discount rate be-
fore tax and taking into consideration other relevant market factors.  When the 
recoverable amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is less that the carrying 
amount, an impairment loss is recognised.    Any impairment is recognised imme-
diately in the group income statement and is not subsequently reversed.   
 
For all other non-financial assets, apart from inventories and deferred tax assets, 
the group performs impairment testing where there are indications of impair-
ment.   If such an indicator exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is esti-
mated to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).  The recoverable 
amount is the higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal.  If the 
recoverable amount is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying 
amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount.  An impairment loss is 
recognised immediately in the Group income statement.   
 
Where an impairment loss is subsequently reversed, the carrying amount of the 
asset is increased to the revised estimate of the recoverable amount, but so that 
the increased carrying amount is limited to the capitalized value the asset would 
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have had after depreciation/amortisation if no impairment loss had been recog-
nised in prior years.  Reversals are recognised immediately as a credit to the 
Group income statement.   

Note 2.9. - Inventories 

Inventory is measured based on the FIFO principal, and on the lowest value of 
historic cost and net realisable value.  

Note 2.10. – Receivables  

Trade receivables and other receivables are initially recognised in the balance 
sheet at fair value and measured at amortized cost less provision for expected 
loss. Provisions for losses are made on the basis of an individual assessment of 
the individual receivables, and such provision occurs if there are indications that 
the company will not be able to collect the nominal amount of the claim. The 
provision is recognized in the income statement in the period it arises. 

Note 2.11. – Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash, bank deposits and maturities within 
three months of the date of placement. 

Note 2.12. – Share capital 

Share capital 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. When issuing new shares, expenses asso-
ciated with the issue are recorded as a reduction of equity. 
 
Cost of equity transactions 
Transaction costs directly related to equity transactions and tax effects on equity 
transactions are recognized directly in equity after deduction of tax. 

Note 2.13. – Government Grants 

Public grants are recognized in a systematic manner over the periods in which the 
company recognizes costs that the grant is intended to compensate for. Grants 
are presented as part of other operating expenses, i.e. net of associated costs. 

Note 2.14. - Leasing  

Financial leases  
Leases where the company takes over the essential part of the risk and return 
associated with ownership of the asset are financial leases. At the beginning of 
the lease, financial leases are recognized at an amount equal to the lower of fair 
value and the minimum lease present value. If there is no reasonable assurance 
that the company will acquire ownership at the end of the rental period, the as-
set will be depreciated over the shortest of the periods for the term of the lease 
and for the useful life of the asset. 
  
The company has no financial leases at 31.12.2017.  
 
Operating leases 
 
Leases where the most significant of the risk and return associated with owner-
ship of the asset lies with the landlord, classified as operating leases. Lease pay-
ments are classified as operating expenses and are recognized on a straight-line 
basis over the contract period. 

Note 2.15. – Compound financial instruments 

Debt components in any bond loans containing equity components are measured 
at fair value on initial recognition. Fair value is assessed on the basis of a corre-
sponding obligation without subscription rights. The equity component consti-
tutes the difference between the fair value of the entire instrument and the fair 
value of the liability component and is recognized in equity. Directly attributable 
transaction costs are distributed proportionally on the basis of value at initial 
recognition. After initial recognition, the debt component is measured at amor-
tized cost using the effective interest rate method. The equity component is not 
re-measured after initial recognition. 

Note 2.16. - Taxes 

Tax Payable 
Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable in-
come or loss for the year and any adjustment to the tax payable or receivable in 
respect of previous years.  The amount recognised in the consolidated financial 
statements reflects the best estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid or 

received.  It is measured using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the 
reporting date. 
 
Deferred Tax 
Deferred taxes are based on the temporary differences that arise when taxation 
authorities recognise and measure assets and liabilities with rules that differ from 
the principles of the consolidated financial statements.  They also arise on tempo-
rary differences resulting from tax losses carried forward.   
 
No deferred tax is recognised for the initial recognition of goodwill and the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which is not a business combi-
nation and at the time of the transaction it affects neither the accounting or tax-
able profit.    
 
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date 
and is recognised only to the extent that probable sufficient taxable profits will be 
available to allow the assets to be recovered.   

Note 2.17. – Pensions and share-based remuneration 

a) Pension 
The company operates a pension contribution plan scheme for employees.  A de-
fined contribution pension scheme is one under which members pay contribu-
tions to an independently administered fund, into which the group also pays con-
tributions based upon a fixed percentage of the members’ annual salaries.  Mem-
bers’ benefits upon retirement are then determined by the amount of contribu-
tions paid into the fund, together with the performance of the investments into 
which those contributions have been invested.  Members are able to choose the 
investments into which their contributions are invested, and as a result any risks 
associated with either the future value of benefits and the performance of the 
assets invested lie with the member.    
 
b) Share-based payment 
The Group uses options made up in equity to pay for services. The fair value of 
the options or services received is recognized in the income statement over the 
vesting period. Share-based payment to employees and others providing equiva-
lent services is measured at fair value of the equity instruments granted. The 
Group uses the Black Scholes model to measure the fair value of options and sub-
scription rights. Volatility is calculated based on a combination of historical vola-
tility and comparison with similar companies. 

Note 2.18. - Provisions 

Provisions arise when NattoPharma has legal or otherwise present obligations as 
a result of past events. The requirement for a provision is that the probability that 
the company will meet the obligation in the future is considered by the company 
to be over 50%. In addition, it must be possible to estimate the Amounts of the 
commitment reliably. 
 
Provisions are measured at the present value of expected payments to meet the 
obligation.  Accruals are made when the company has an actual or assumed obli-
gation regarding accrued non-billed items that are likely to be paid and where the 
amount is adequately calculated. Accruals are made with pre-tax amounts that 
the company expects to pay and reflects market estimates of interest on the 
amounts and risks associated with the liability. Increases in accrual due to interest 
accruals are recognized as interest expenses.  

Note 2.19. – Revenue recognition 

Revenue recognition occurs when risk and rewards related to the item has been 
transferred to the customer. The terms of sale are essentially "ex works", which 
means that when the company sells a product, the risk goes to the buyer in which 
the goods leave the supplier / stock, i.e. the seller gives the buyer access to the 
products in their own premises (factory or warehouse) according to contractual 
obligations, but not ready for export or loaded on vehicles. Buyer carries all risk 
and all costs associated with bringing the goods to their destination. Transporta-
tion of goods does not go through Norway for abroad customers. 

Note 2.20. – Cash flow 

Cash flow analysis is done according to the indirect method. 

Note 2.21. – Events after the balance sheet date  

Events after the balance sheet date that provide information about conditions 
that existed on the balance sheet date or events indicating circumstances arising 
after the balance sheet date with accounting consequences, will be accounted 
for if significant. 
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Note 2.22. – Changes in accounting policies and information  

New standards, interpretations and amendments not yet effective 
As at the date of these financial statements, the following standards were in issue, 
but not yet effective.  The Group has not applied these standards in the prepara-
tion of the financial statements, and has not adopted any new or amended stand-
ards early:  

• IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts 
with Customers (both with mandatory effect for periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2018); and 

• IFRS 16 Leases (mandatory effect for periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2019). 

 
A. Estimated Impact of the adoption of IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 

The group is required to adopt IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and IFRS 15 Revenue 
from Contracts with Customers from 1 January 2018.  The group has assessed the 
impact that the initial application of IFRS 9 (see (B)) and IFRS 15 (see (C)) will have 
on its consolidated financial statements.  The table below summarises the impact 
of the adoption of these standards on the group’s equity as at 1 January 2018.   
 

 
 

Estimated impact of adoption of IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 

(Amounts in NOK 1.000) 

As reported 
at 

31 December 
2017 

Adjust-
ments due 
to adoption 

of IFRS 9 

Adjust-
ments due 
to adoption 
of IFRS 15 

Adjusted 
opening 

balance at 
1 January 

2018 

Retained Earnings /  
(Accumulated Losses) -68 050 -5 750 - -73 800 

 
The total adjustment to the opening balance of the group’s equity at 1 January 
2018 is MNOK -57.5.  This is a result of: 
 

• A decrease of MNOK 57.5 in retained earnings due to impairment 
losses on financial assets, being the vendor loan agreement to Phar-
maCo, recognised on the initial application of IFRS 9 (see B).     

 
B. IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 

IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ replaces IAS 39 ‘Financial instruments: Recognition 
and Measurement’ from 1 January 2018.  Based on its assessment, the group does 
not believe that the new classification requirements for financial assets and finan-
cial liabilities will have a material impact on transition to IFRS 9. Financial assets 
currently measured at amortised cost under IAS 39, in particular trade receivables 
and long-term receivables, will meet the contractual cash flow characteristics test 
and are held within a business model whose objective is to collect the contractual 
cash flows and will continue to be measured at amortised cost under IFRS 9. 
 
IFRS 9 replaces the ‘incurred loss’ model in IAS 39 with a forward-looking ‘ex-
pected credit loss’ (ECL) model.  The group will apply the simplified approach to 
recognise lifetime ECL for its trade receivables as required by IFRS 9. For other 
financial assets measured at amortised cost, the group will initially measure the 
loss allowances on a 12-month ECL basis, being the ECLs that result from possible 
default events within the 12 months after the reporting date and will assess at 
each reporting date whether a significant increase in credit risk has occurred. 
 
The impact of the new impairment model has been reviewed via the identification 
and analysis of the credit risk associated with counterparties, being trade receiv-
ables and other long-term receivables. The balance of MNOK 57.5 in long-term 
receivables represents the seller’s credit provided from NattoPharma to Phar-
maCo on the sale of the pharma business.   
 
This review reflects historical data, being the experience of losses incurred due to 
default and forward- looking information. 
 
In terms of trade receivables, the group has never experienced any losses due to 
default.  However, in 2017 sales have increased considerably, with accelerated 
growth especially in the second half of the year, and the highest ever quarterly 
sales revenue in the final quarter. The result of this has been an increase in the 
customer base, and whilst most sales continue to be generated by a handful of 
the larger customer accounts there is an increased risk that some receivables will 
become irrecoverable.  Because of these considerations a bad-debt provision was 
taken for NOK 57.147 in the 2017 financial statements and no further credit loss 
is expected by applying the requirements in IFRS 9, including the consideration of 
forward-looking information. Consequently, no additional impairment will be 
made to this financial asset in the opening retained earnings as at 1 January 2018.      
 
The other long-term receivable of NOK 57.5 million is the vendor loan agreement 
to PharmaCo as disclosed in note 25.  The group believes in a high likelihood of 
success for PharmaCo, based on the strong data accumulated over years of in-
vestments in research and clinical studies, and is therefore extremely optimistic 
about the potential of pharmaceutical applications of vitamin K2-MK7 and the 
financial performance of PharmaCo.  However, whilst the entity has potential for 
huge value creation and financial return, when assessing the 12 months ECL of 
this financial asset the high-risk profile of this entity must be considered as part 

of the forward-looking assessment.  Accordingly, the group has estimated the 
probability of default during the next 12 months at 10% with an exposure at de-
fault of NOK 57.5 million, resulting in an increased loss allowance of NOK 5.75 
million on transition to IFRS 9 on 1 January 2018.    
 
The group does not apply hedge accounting under IAS 39 and expects therefore 
no transition effects from the adoption of IFRS 9.  
 
The group will take advantage of the exemption allowing it not to restate com-
parative information for prior periods. As a result, the group will recognise the 
impact of the adoption of the new standard in the opening retained earnings as 
at 1 January 2018. 
 

C. IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ is effective for periods begin-
ning on or after 1 January 2018.  This replaces IAS 18 which covers contracts for 
goods and services, and IAS 11 which covers construction contracts. IFRS 15 intro-
duces a five-step model to the timing of revenue recognition based on perfor-
mance obligations in customer contracts, in which revenue is recognised when 
control of a good or service transfers to a customer.   
 
The group plans to adopt IFRS 15 using the cumulative effect method, with the 
effect of initially applying this standard recognised at the date of initial application 
(i.e. 1 January 2018).  As a result, the group will not restate the comparative pe-
riod presented. 
 
The group is in the business of selling both “natural” and synthetically produced 
vitamin K2; MK7 to both manufacturers and distributors of finished products.  In 
addition to this the group also provides transitional services of management, R&D 
and accounting to PharmaCo AS which is an associated entity created through the 
spin-off of the pharmaceutical business from NattoPharma in December 2017.  
During 2017 NattoPharma also provided accounting services to an unrelated busi-
ness within the same Oslo based office complex.    
 

• Sales of goods 
 

For contracts with customers in which the sale of K2 is generally ex-
pected to be the only performance obligation, adoption of IFRS 15 is 
not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s revenue 
and profit and loss.   

 
The contract with the customer begins following receipt and confir-
mation of the customer purchase order.  In terms of the allocation of 
the transaction price to the performance obligation, this is a one to 
one relationship, with no bundled product offerings. The group ex-
pects the revenue recognition to occur at a point in time when con-
trol of the asset is transferred to the customer. According to the 
standard Sales Terms and Conditions for the group products are typ-
ically delivered EX WORKS at the company warehouse, and therefore 
the performance obligation is fulfilled when the goods are made 
available for collection, and this is the point at which control of the 
product transfers to the customer, and revenue is recognised.  If the 
group will enter into contracts with different Sales Terms and Condi-
tions in the future, a detailed assessment of the point in time at 
which control is transferred to the customer will be made. Under the 
standard Sales Terms and Conditions, the returns policy only allows 
for replacement of goods in the event of defects, when these are no-
tified to the group in writing within 30 days of the transfer of control. 
The group can typically objectively determine that control of the 
goods has been transferred to the customer in accordance with the 
agreed-upon specifications in the contract. Customer acceptance 
does therefore not affect the group’s determination of when the cus-
tomer has obtained control of the goods and, consequently, IFRS 15 
does not change the point at which revenue is recognised. 

 

• Rendering of services 
 
These services, mainly consisting of accounting services, are sold sep-
arately and are not bundled in any way with the sales of K2 product.   

 
The group concluded that the services are satisfied over time given 
that the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the bene-
fits provided by the group.  Therefore, under IFRS 15 the group would 
continue to recognise revenue for these service contracts over time.     

 

• Advances received from customers 
 
Under IFRS 15, the group must determine whether there is a signifi-
cant financing component in its contracts.  The group occasionally 
receives short-term advances from customers.  This normally only 
happens for new customers where prepayment is applicable until a 
sufficient credit check has been established, or where customers 
have a history of late paying.  The period between the receipt of the 
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advance and the transfer of the goods to the customer in these situ-
ations is short, and the payment terms are not designed to provide 
finance to the group.   Therefore, the group concludes that there is 
no significant financing element to these contracts.   

 
Based on the review undertaken by the group of the main types of commercial 
arrangements used with customers under this model it has been concluded that 
the group does not expect a material impact on its revenue recognition principles 
and no adjustments to opening retained earnings as at 1 January 2018 have been 
identified.  
 

D. IFRS 16 – Leases 

This standard will replace IAS 17 and related interpretations and sets out the prin-
ciples for recognition, measurement and disclosure of leases. IFRS 16 is effective 
from periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019 and the group will not early 
adopt the standard. The main impact on the group will be related to the group’s 
operating leases in which the group is a lessee as disclosed in note 19. The group 
has not yet finalised its detailed assessment of the quantitative impact of IFRS 16 
and which transition reliefs the group intends to make use of. 

 
Note 3 – Important accounting estimates and discretionary assessments 
The preparation of consolidated financial statements is in accordance with Inter-
national Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the use of accounting policies 
requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect 
the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. The estimates 
and underlying assumptions are based on historical experience and various other 
factors that are considered to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual re-
sults may differ from these estimates. The estimates and the underlying assump-
tions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects 
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision 
affects both current and future periods. The accounting policies in which judg-
ments, estimates and assumptions may significantly differ from actual results are 
discussed below.   

 
Goodwill & Other intangible assets 
The Group assesses the need for impairment of goodwill on an annual basis. In 
addition, goodwill is tested for impairment if there are indicators of impairment. 
This implies that the value in use of the cash-generating unit as goodwill is allo-
cated to be estimated. When the value of use is to be estimated, management 
must estimate future cash flows from the cash-generating unit and select a dis-
count rate to calculate a present value of these cash flows. Changes to current 
estimates may lead to impairment losses in future periods. See note 10 for further 
information. 
 
Acquisition cost of intangible assets acquired in business acquisitions is fair value 
at acquisition date. Determining the useful life requires management to make 
judgment. On each reporting date, management assesses whether there are in-
dications of impairment. If there are indicators of impairment, the recoverable 
amount must be calculated. 
 
Deferred tax assets from deferred tax losses are capitalized only to the extent that 
the corresponding future taxable profit is probable. The company's management 
has considered it unlikely that the deferred tax asset will be realized during the 
next income years, thus neglecting to balance the deferred tax asset. See note 8 
for more information related to the calculation of deferred taxes.  
 
Important discretionary judgements using accounting principles 
Accounting and measurement of intangible assets: Applying the criteria for when 
development costs qualify for recognition as an intangible asset, and subsequent 
measurement are subject to significant discretion from management. Although 
projects have been activated, uncertainty about the market and future margin 
development may exist, and consequently it is difficult to assess the recoverable 
amount in relation to impairment tests. 
 
Note 4 -  Geographical distribution of sales revenues 

(Amount in NOK 1.000) 2017 2016 

North & South America 32 248 17 706 
Europe 24 148  33 619 
Rest of the world 10 210 2 017 

Total sales 66 606 53 342 

 
Note 5 - Salary and Personnel costs and number of employees 

(Amount in NOK 1.000) 2017 2016 

Salary Cost 14,048 10,604 
Employer Tax Cost 1,966 1 526 
Employee Related Insurance 295 291 
Remuneration to Board  242 159 
Share & Option Cost 1 293 358 
Other Personnel Cost 691 385 

Total salary costs 18,534 13,323 

Number of man-years – Norway 7 7 

Number of man-years – Outside Norway 7 6 

 
Specification of salary and remuneration to senior executives is mentioned in 
note 21.   

 
The company is required to have a compulsory pension plan in accordance with 
the Norwegian Act on Compulsory Occupational Pensions ("Compulsory Occupa-
tional Pensions Act"). The company has signed a defined contribution pension 
agreement with Storebrand Livsforsikring AS, which goes beyond the require-
ments of this Act. The agreement is based on a premium payment of 3,5% for 
income between 1G and 7,1G (G = 93 634) and 6,5% of income between 7,1 and 
12G. The scheme includes a disability insurance. In addition, a group life scheme 
has been agreed based on a replacement equivalent to 15G at death. Pursuant to 
section 6-16a of the Public Limited Companies Act, the Board has prepared a 
statement on the determination of salary and other remuneration to the CEO and 
other senior executives. 
 
Note 6 – Share based remuneration 
The Board of Directors, with a power of attorney granted by the Annual General 
Assembly on 20 May 2016, resolved in the Board meeting on February 7, 2017 to 
allocate an additional 315,000 options to senior executives in connection with 
agreed targets for 2017. These options are awarded at NOK 11.20 per share and 
expires on 31.03.2022. All options are fully vested at the date they were granted. 
 
Further, the Board of Directors received through a resolution at the Annual Gen-
eral Assembly on May 15th, 2017 options as form of remuneration related to the 
work performed during 2016/2017. The options are vested immediately upon 
grant and can be exercised within April 30th, 2019. The strike price is NOK 10,50 
per share option and is equal to the closing share price on the Oslo Stock Exchange 
on May 15th, 2017. None of these options are exercised at balance sheet date. 
 
Based on the power of attorney granted at the annual general meeting of Nat-
toPharma ASA on May 15th, 2017, and the option program related to defined 
operational objectives approved by the Board of Directors in 2017, the Board of 
Directors of NattoPharma has in board proceedings February 7th, 2018 granted a 
total of 560 350 options to executive management, other employees and strate-
gic partners. Options are granted based on performance against defined criteria 
and metrics. 
 
The following persons on the executive management team have been granted 
options;  
 

Name Granted Prior to grant After grant 
Daniel H Rosenbaum 165 950       163 000   328 950   

Kjetil Ramsøy 88 600 74 000               162 600 

 
Other employees and partners have been granted a total of 287 450 options. The 
options have an exercise price equal the closing price on Oslo Axess on February 
7th, 2018, which is equal to NOK 9,05. The options granted are vested immedi-
ately and may be exercised up to and including March 31st, 2023. 
 
Total number of outstanding options as at 31.12.: 

 2017 2016 

 

Number 
of  

Options 

Average 
exercise 

price 

Number 
of  

Options 

Average 
exercise 

price 

Outstanding 1. January 512 500 9,06 - - 

Awarded during the year 615 000 10,85 512 500 9,06 

Terminated during the year -5 000 11,20 - - 

Redeemed during the year - - - - 

Matured during the year - - - - 

Outstanding per 31. December 1 122 500 10,13 512 500 9,06 

Exercised per 31. December 0 9,06 512 500 9,06 

 
Expenses associated with share and option allocations in the accounts for 2017 
are presented in the table below; 
  

 (Amounts in NOK 1.000) 2017 2016 

Share-based remuneration - 1 019 
Option awards 1 293 1 020 

Costs related to share- and option-based remuneration 1 293 2 039 

 
Note 7 – Specification of other operating costs and public support 

(Amounts in NOK 1.000) 2017 2016 

Property Expenses 1 280 652 
Travel Cost 1 797 1 744 
Sales & Marketing Cost 1 975 2 625 
Audit, Legal & Accounting Expenses 1 573 3 156 
Research & Development Cost 1 544 1 307 
Other Operating Costs 2 132 3 076 

Total Other Operating Expenses 10 301 12 560 

 
Specification of remuneration to the auditor: 
 

(Amounts in NOK 1.000) 2017 2016 

Statutory audit 447 384 
Tax advice 39 37 
Other services outside audit 159 106 

Total remuneration to the auditor 645 527 
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Note 8 - Tax 
The tax expense for the year consists of  
(Amounts in NOK 1.000) 2017 2016 

Payable tax 70 - 
Change deferred tax -749 -656 

Total Tax Income -678 -656 

 
Due to several years of operating- and tax losses, the company has not recognised 
any deferred tax asset related to the carry forward tax losses. 
 

Tax effect of temporary differences  
(Amounts in NOK 1.000) 2017 2016 

Fixed assets / intangible assets -3 859 -4 696 
Balance on deferred gain and loss account -12 576 - 
Inventories - 101 
Accounting provisions - - 
Other differences 7 557 - 
Loss to be carried forward 45 305 48 042 

Total deferred (tax liability) / tax benefit 36 427 43 447 

Non-Capitalized deferred (tax liability) / tax benefit  40 821 48 234 

Capitalized deferred (tax liability) / tax benefit -4 393 -4 787 

 
Deficit to carry forward is distributed among the following countries, 
 

Country 
(Amounts in NOK 1.000) 

Losses to 
carry for-

ward Tax rate 

Unrecognized 
deferred tax 

asset 

Remaining 
year of pro-

gression 

Norway 174 186 24,0% 41 805 Indefinite 

USA 9 176 35,0% 3 212 Indefinite 

Cyprus 2 310 12,5% 289 5 years 

Total 185 672  45 305  

 
The following table shows a reconciliation between expected tax based on profit 
before tax and nominal tax rate and actual tax expense / (income): 
 

(Amounts in NOK 1.000) 2017 2016 

Result before taxes 22 312 -17 994 
Nominal tax rate 24% 25% 

Expected tax expense 5 355 --4 498 
Tax effect of foreign tax rates -207 -573 
Exchange rate effect 685 603 
Tax effect of non-taxable income 0 -212 
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 1 490 
Tax effect of SkatteFunn -826 -794 
Change in deferred (tax liability) / tax benefit -7 020 2 508 
Impact of changes in tax rules and rates 1 294 1 818 
Change in unrecognized deferred tax asset 0 -45 
Other 40 45 

Taxes for the year / (income) -678 -656 

Effective tax rate -3% -4% 

 
Note 9 – Earnings per share 
Basic Earnings per share are calculated by dividing the annual profit on the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year less 
own shares held as at 31 December 2017. 
 

(Amounts in NOK 1.000) 2017 2016 

Annual result including discontinued operations 22 991 -17 338 

Profit from continued operations -4 080 -10 503 

Weighted average number of shares issued 17 613 17 613 

Weighted average number of shares diluted  18 594 17 613 

Basic earnings per share from continued operations 
Diluted earnings per share from continued operations 
Basic earnings per share including discontinued operations 
Diluted earnings per share including discontinued operations 

-0,23 
-0,23 
1,31 
1,24 

-0,61 
-0,61 
-1,00 
-1,00 

 
See also note 16 “ Share capital” 
 

Note 10 – Intangible assets 

    Other Intangible Assets 

Amounts in NOK 1.000 Goodwill 
Acquired 

Technology 
Software 

*) 
Acquired 

Rights 
Patents 

Total 
Other In-
tangible 
Assets *) 

Acquisition cost 
01.01.2016 7 259 57 379  1 099 1 798 60 276 

Acquisitions   1 189   1 189 

Disposals       
Exchange rate 
changes -402 -2 422    -2 422 

Acquisition cost 
01.01.2017 6,857 54 957 1 189 1 099 1 798 59 043 

Acquisitions   539 211  750 

Disposals       
Exchange rate 
changes 568 3 148    3 148 

Acquisition cost 
31.12.2017 7 426 58 105 1 728 1 310 1 798 62 941 

Accumulated  
amortisation 
01.01.2016  11 406  733 1 538 13 677 

Amortization and 
deprec. for the 
year  5 609  220 150 5 979 

Disposals       
Exchange rate 
changes       

Accumulated  
depreciation 
01.01.2017 0 17 015 0 953 1 688 19 656 

Amortization and 
deprec. for the 
year  5 632 317 159 110 6 218 

Disposals       
Exchange rate 
changes  308    308 

Accumulated  
depreciation 
31.12.2017 0 22 955 317 1 112 1 798 26 182 

         

Balance sheet 
value 31.12.2017 7 426 35 150 1 411 198 0 36 759 

Balance sheet 
value 31.12.2016 6 857 37 942 1 189 146 110 39 387 

*) Software has been reclassified from tangible to intangible asset.  This also applies to 2016 figures. 

 
The company uses straight-line amortization for all intangible assets. 
 
The economic life is intended for: 
- Patent 1     10 years 
- Patent 2 + 3     11 years 
- Purchased synthetic K2 technology  10 years 
 
The company has used regular reviews about the economic life of a patent. Nor-
mally, the life of a patent is estimated to be 15 years from the time a patent is 
registered. For purchased patents in 2006, the remaining life is then estimated to 
be 10 and 11 years. Patents purchased in December 2012 will be depreciated over 
the remaining lifetime of 2.5 years. This is also the basis for depreciation. 
 
Annual impairment test  
Goodwill and intangible assets associated with the acquisition of NattoPharma R 
& D Ltd (Vitasynth Ltd) in 2013 and related synthetic K2 process technology have 
been tested for impairment as at 31.12.2017. The recoverable amount of the 
cash-generating asset is estimated based on the calculation of value in use (VIU). 
VIU is calculated based on estimated operating cash flow (EBITDA), prepared by 
the Group's management, adjusted for investments and changes in working cap-
ital. These assumptions are based on management's best estimate at the account-
ing date and the cash flow estimates cover a five-year period in addition to a ter-
minal value. Management has used an estimate of annual growth over the five-
year period reflecting the structure management expects during the period, 
where the average five-year average growth rate is approximately 20%. The ter-
minal value is calculated at an annual rate of 1%. Expected margin is set at 50% 
throughout the period. No significant investments are expected, and the cash 
flow is estimated to be positive from year 1. The discount rate used is 13%. The 
following sensitivity analysis has been made, where changes in discount rate and 
growth rate for the terminal value are used to visualize possible outcomes. 
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Recoverable amount from cash generating unit (Amounts in NOK million) in dif-
ferent variables for growth and interest rate:  

 

    
Growth 2018 

   20% 40% 60% 80% 100% 110% 

D
is

co
u

n
t 

ra
te

 

11.0 % 72,500 84,622 96,676 108,799 120,843 126,904 

13.0 % 60,593 70,709 80,804 90,920 101,006 106,053 

15.0 % 52,082 60,780 69,449 78,148 86,826 91,176 

17.0 % 45,706 53,342 60,948 68,574 76,190 79,998 

19.0 % 40,756 47,556 54,326 61,145 67,924 71,309 

21.0 % 36,781 42,921 49,042 55,191 61,312 64,382 

23.0 % 33,534 39,133 44,712 50,321 55,890 58,694 

 
Note 11 – Tangible assets  

Amounts in NOK 1.000 
Hard-
ware 

Refurbish-
ment rented 

offices 

Lab  
equipment 

Total  
Fixed As-

sets *) 

Acquisition cost 01.01.2016 60 0 3 198 3 258 

Acquisitions  69   69 

Disposals       

Exchange rate changes    63 63 

Acquisition cost 31.12.2016 60 69 3 261 3 390 

Acquisitions  318  318 

Disposals     

Exchange rate changes   194 194 

Acquisition cost 31.12.2017 60 387 3 455 3 902 

        

Accumulated depreciation 01.01.2016 41   63 

Depreciation for the year 19 1 897 917 

Disposals       

Exchange rate changes       

Accumulated depreciation 01.01.2017 60 1 919 980 

Amortization for the year  38 1 108 1 146 

Disposals     

Exchange rate changes   61 61 

Accumulated depreciation 31.12.2017 60 39 2 088 2 187 

          

Balance sheet value 31.12.2017 0 348 1 367 1 715 

Balance sheet value 31.12. 2016 0 68 2 342 2 410 

*) Software has been reclassified from tangible to intangible asset.  This also applies to 2016 figures. 

 
The company uses straight-line depreciation for all tangible fixed assets. 
 
The economic life of the assets is calculated as: 
 
• Computer equipment:   linear 3 years 
• Other investments:   linear 5 years   
 
Note 12 -Subsidiaries/Associate 

(Amounts in NOK 1.000) Ownership 

NattoPharma USA, Inc., Edison, NJ, USA 100% 

NattoPharma R&D Ltd, Nicosia, Cyprus 100% 

PharmaCo AS (Associate) 45,85% 

 
Note 13 - Inventory 

(Amounts in NOK 1.000) 2017 2016 

Finish goods inventory 12 953 3 767 

Total 12 953 3 767 

 
Inventory is entered at the lower of cost and net realizable value. 
 
Note 14 - Trade receivables and other short-term receivables 

(Amounts in NOK 1.000) 2017 2016 

Trade receivables 17 672 14 399 
VAT, SkatteFunn, etc. 3 941 5 004 
Prepayments 639 1 498 
Other receivables 4 861 3 206 

Total trade and other receivables 27 113 24 108 

 

Note 15 – Bank deposits 
Included in cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 2017 were tax deduc-
tions of NOK 255,000 (2016: NOK 255,000) and a deposit account for costs asso-
ciated with the company's listing on NASDAQ First North of SEK 200,000. Further-
more, the company has provided security for rent with NOK 438 700.  
The company has also provided a guarantee in connection with a current contract 
with a supplier of USD 90,000. This is secured with collateral in DNB deposits. 
 
Note 16 – Share capital 
 

 
Number of 
Shares *) Face value 

Share  
capital 

Outstanding shares 01.01.2016 17 139 933 3 40 705 515 

Issues 2016 430 000 3 1 290 000 
Redemption employee  
options 

   

Outstanding shares 31.12.2016 17 569 933 3 52 709 799 

Issues 2017 560 000  1 680 000 
Redemption employee  
options 

- - - 

Outstanding shares 31.12.2017 18 129 933 3 54 389 799 

*) Own shares are 7 143 at a face value of 3,00 each; NOK 21 429 

 
A private placement towards Synergia Life Sciences Pvt Ltd. (Synergia) was ap-
proved in an Extraordinary General Assembly on November 24th, 2017, where 
560 000 new shares at a par value of NOK 3 per share were issued. The subscrip-
tion price for the shares were NOK 12,5 per share, giving net proceeds of NOK 
6,94 million when including the transaction cost related to the private placement.   
  
The shares were registered in the Norwegian Business Registry (Brønnøysundreg-
istrene) on December 4th, 2017. Due to a delayed process for Synergia to acquire 
a Norwegian securities account (VPS account) the shares were not registered for 
trade in VPS until February 2nd, 2018.   
 
As per December 31st, 2017, the share capital is NOK 54,389,799 based on a total 
number of shares issued equal to 18 129 933 each at a face value of NOK 3,00.   

 
Note 17 – Other short - term debt 

Amounts in NOK 1.000 2017 2016 

Accrued costs 1 475 909 
Mandatory Public Fees, etc. 254 1 756 
Other short-term debt 3 539 2 510 

Sum 5 268 5 175 

 
Note 18 – Financial risk 
The Group is exposed to liquidity risk, currency risk, credit risk and risk related to 
interest rates. 
 

Liquidity Risk 

For quite some time the company has been focusing on Research and Develop-
ment (R&D) of its new natural-identical synthesized vitamin K2, MenaQ7® Phar-
maPure, as well as new distribution methods for vitamin K2 in general. By 2017, 
this production has been put into operation, and with the exception of some de-
lays in delivery in the third quarter of 2017, this has resulted in a significant in-
crease in access to a commercially competitive product. The company's manage-
ment considers the future liquidity need for R&D activities to decline, while in-
vestment in working capital in connection with the company's planned growth 
will increase. Barring any unforeseen events, of which the company does not have 
direct control over, the management's assessment is that the company's liquidity 
by the end of 2017, as well as updated forecasts for the short and medium term, 
indicate that new share issues will not be required for operational needs. Any in-
vestments, other than ordinary operations, may however entail the risk that fu-
ture capital requirements will arise. 
 

Currency Exchange Risk 

The cost side is mainly related to NOK, USD, and EUR, while revenues are mainly 
USD and EUR. The exposure to currency risk is continuously monitored. EURO has 
strengthened against NOK by almost 12,2% in 2017, while USD weakened by 3,3% 
in the same period. The average exchange rate in 2017 between EUR and USD has 
strengthened by 3,3% in the favour of EUR. The company's management and the 
Board have continuously assessed the risk and have not seen the need to imple-
ment measures to limit the currency risk. If necessary, financial instruments will 
be evaluated to reduce this exposure, especially where credit will be given to ma-
jor customers. 
 

Credit Risk 

Credit risk has been limited due to the use of advance payments on delivery for 
new customers, as well as limited credit for the largest customers. This situation 
is changing as new contracts are negotiated with major international customers 
that require significant credit periods. This will place greater demands on moni-
toring and the follow-up of the continuous credit exposure, and the company has 
implemented credit evaluation and follow-up procedures to accommodate and 
mitigate this risk. 
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The age distribution of accounts receivable at the end of 2017 is as follows;  
 

 
Not 
due 

1-30 
days 

31-60 
days 

61-90 
days 

> 91 
days Total 

 
Percentage 
share 62.36% 14.46% 0.47% 0.21% 22.50% 100% 

 
According to the management's assessment, there is no significant risk of loss on 
any of the outstanding receivables as at 31 December 2017. 
 

Interest rate risk 

The company is, to a limited extent, exposed to risk with regard to future interest 
rate fluctuations, beyond the above-mentioned currency exposure, and there are 
low deposit rates on surplus liquidity, which are managed based on a low-risk 
strategy. The company's excess liquidity is placed on the account with DNB Bank 
ASA. 
 
A significant increase in the overall interest rate level may adversely affect the 
company's results. Increased interest rate risk can also affect capital costs and 
reduce the possibility of acquiring new capital in the future, if necessary. 
 
Note 19 – Non-capitalized liabilities 
Non-capitalized liabilities consist primarily of leases of office premises at Lilleaker 
in Oslo, which were entered into in 2016 and expire in January 2022. The rental 
price is adjusted upwards with the consumer price index annually, first January 1, 
2018. The company recorded NOK 1 280 182 in total rental costs for its premises 
in Norway and in the USA in 2017 (NOK 652 000 in 2016). 
 
Specification of contractual lease obligations, including joint costs:  
 

Amounts in NOK 1.000 2017 2016 

Less than one year 724 849 
More than one year, but less than five years 3 018 3 467 

Sum 3 742 4 316 

 
Note 20 – Shareholder information 
The company had approx. 920 shareholders as of 31.12.2017. The company's 
shares are not divided into share classes. All shares have the same right to divi-
dend and equal voting rights. 
 
Overview of 20 largest shareholders as at 31.12.17: 

# Shareholders name 
No. of 
shares 

Owner-
ship as a 

% of 
the total 

20 largest 
shareholders 
accumulated 

Ownership 
in % of the 
20 largest 

1 KG INVESTMENT COMP AS  2,152,317 11.87% 11.87% 17.18% 

2 LIFE SCIENCE SWEDEN AB 1) 1,929,510 10.64% 22.51% 15.40% 

3 NOVEL NUT. NETW. SP. Z O.O. 2) 1,423,927 7.85% 30.37% 11.36% 

4 PRO AS  1,090,349 6.01% 36.38% 8.70% 

5 AVANZA BANK AB  671,980 3.71% 40.09% 5.36% 

6 Synergia Life Sciences Pvt Ltd 560,000 3.09% 43.18% 4.47% 

7 ENG AS  3) 554,508 3.06% 46.24% 4.43% 

8 BOHAN & CO AS 4) 533,455 2.94% 49.18% 4.26% 

9 UBS SWITZERLAND AG  489,323 2.70% 51.88% 3.91% 

10 NXT CAPITAL LTD 4) 452,852 2.50% 54.38% 3.61% 

11 AVANZA PENSION 393,857 2.17% 56.55% 3.14% 

12 TG MONTGOMERY AS 4) 385,186 2.12% 58.67% 3.07% 

13 BJERKENES, JAN FREDRIK 377,909 2.08% 60.76% 3.02% 

14 NIELSEN, TRYGVE 308,855 1.70% 62.46% 2.47% 

15 SWEDBANK AS  251,535 1.39% 63.85% 2.01% 

16 LOG , JOHN BJARNE 200,690 1.11% 64.95% 1.60% 

17 NICOLINE INVEST AS  200,000 1.10% 66.06% 1.60% 

18 MP GAMES AKTIEBOLAG 199,643 1.10% 67.16% 1.59% 

19 VRENNE , STEIN OLE 185,000 1.02% 68.18% 1.48% 

20 NORDNET LIVSFORSIKRING AS  168,410 0.93% 69.11% 1.34% 

  Total shares Top-20 12,529,306 69.11%    

            Other shareholders 5,600,627  30,89%                                        

            Total Outstanding Number of Shares                                                                                                       18,129,933 
100,00

%   
1) Stefan Halldén 
2) Piotr Jandziak 
3) Hogne Vik 
4) Frode M. Bohan 
 

Note 21 - Transactions with related parties and remuneration of senior execu-
tives 
Benefits to the Board and senior executives (Amounts in NOK 1,000): 
 
2017 

Name Salary Other Pension 

Exer-
cised 
Options Total 

Management:      

Daniel H Rosenbaum 
CEO * 

2 006     2 006 

Kjetil Ramsøy 
CFO  

1 521 18 50 - 1 589 

      

Board and election committee:      

Frode M. Bohan 
  Chairman 

729 5 27  761 

Katarzyna Z. Maresz 
  Board member 

 50   50 

Christopher v Schirach-Szmigiel 
  Board member 

 50   50 

Stefan Hallden  
  Board member 

 50   50 

Annette Elmqvist 
  Board member 

 50   50 

Frank Bjordal 
  Chairman of the election committee 

 30   30 

Kim Øien 
  Election committee 

 20   20 

Total benefits 4 256 273 77  4 606 

* 
 
 

The payment is paid in USD throughout the year, and the average exchange rate for USD according 
to Norges Bank's exchange rates is used in converting to NOK (8.2712). 

 
2016 

 
 Salary Other Pension 

Exer-
cised 
Options Total 

Management:      
Daniel H Rosenbaum 
 CEO * 

2 024 - - - 2 024 

Kjetil Ramsøy 
CFO 

1 485 643 43 - 2 171 

      
Board and election committee:      
Frode M. Bohan 
  Chairman 

729 - 25 - 754 

Katarzyna Z. Maresz 
  Board member 

- 50 - - 50 

Christopher v Schirach-Szmigiel 
  Board member 

- 50 - - 50 

Stefan Hallden ** 
  Board member 

- - - - - 

Annette Elmqvist 
  Board member 

- - - - - 

Frank Bjordal 
  Chairman of the election committee 

- 30 - - 30 

Kim Øien 
  Election committee 

- - - - - 

Stefan Hallden ** 
  Election committee 

- 20 - - 20 

Total benefits 4 238 793 68 0 5 099 

* The payment is paid in USD throughout the year, and the average exchange rate for USD according 
to Norges Bank's exchange rates is used in converting to NOK. 

** Stefan Halldén was a member of the Nomination Committee until the Annual General Assembly in 
2016, where he was elected to the Board of Directors of the Company. 

 
From 1 January 2017, the company has the following management team: 
Frode M. Bohan, Working Chairman 
Daniel Rosenbaum, CEO (CEO until 8th February 2018) 
Kjetil Ramsøy, CFO (CEO and CFO from 8th February 2018) 
 
Pursuant to Section 6-16 a) of the Public Limited Liability Companies Act, cf. Sec-
tion 5-6, third paragraph, the General Assembly shall consider the Board's remu-
neration guidelines for the coming year. 
 
The Board of Directors of the Company is responsible for determining the remu-
neration of the CEO and the CEO is in consultation with the Board again respon-
sible for determining the remuneration of senior executives. 
 
The main principles for executive remuneration policy and remuneration in the 
financial year 2017 have been as follows; 
 
Compensation must be competitive, but not market leading 
Managerial salaries, as a general guideline, should be suitable for attracting and 
retaining skilled executives in order to increase value creation in the company and 
contribute to combined interests between management and shareholders. Total 
remuneration shall generally be at the level of remuneration to senior executives 
in comparable industries, companies and positions in the country in which the 
individual leader is located. 
 
Compensation must be motivating 
The managerial salary should be structured to drive motivation and encourage 
improvements in results and shareholder values. In general, remuneration can 
consist of five elements: basic salary, short-term incentives (bonus), long-term in-
centives (options), benefits and retirement benefits. 
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The variable remuneration, short and long term, should be linked to value crea-
tion for shareholders over time. The variable remuneration shall be determined 
both on the basis of individual and company-related goals. 
 
The long-term incentives are option-based and in accordance with the current 
option program approved by the General Assembly. 
 
Compensation should be flexible, to allow adjustments over time 
In order to offer competitive pay, the company must have a flexible system that 
can accommodate changes as the company and markets develop. 
 
Principles of benefits given in addition to the basic salary 
Basic salary is the main element of remuneration for senior executives. Other and 
variable remuneration is, at the time of grant, subject to the determination of 
special maximum amounts, depending on the position of each employee. 
 
The following refers to the individual benefits given in addition to the basic salary. 
Unless specifically mentioned, there are no special terms, limits or award criteria 
for the mentioned remuneration. 
 
Short-term incentive / bonus scheme 
The company has established a bonus scheme for senior executives. The bonus 
scheme is implemented and assessed at least annually. The bonus scheme is 
linked to achieving operational and financial goals for the company set by the 
board, as well as achieving personal development goals for each employee. 
 
Pension schemes and insurance 
Leading employees participate in the company's pension scheme, which is a de-
fined contribution scheme which involves payment of between 3,5% and 6,5% of 
the employee's salary, up to a maximum of 12 times the basic amount (G) in the 
Norwegian National Insurance Scheme (Folketrygden). NattoPharma has estab-
lished pension cover for employees with salary higher than 12 G. The pension ob-
ligations also include disability. 
 
Severance schemes 
In order to attract and / or retain a manager or other resource persons, the com-
pany may enter into final agreements where employees or consultants are enti-
tled to continue to receive their salary / allowance for up to 12 months after the 
expiration of the employment contract. Labour income during this period may in 
its entirety be calculated against his or her continued salary / remuneration dur-
ing the period in which he continues to receive salary / remuneration. 
 
Fringe benefits 
Leading employees will normally be given natural benefits that are common mar-
ket practices, i.e. phone expenses, a laptop, free broadband connection and use, 
newspapers and car payments. There are no special restrictions on what other 
benefits can be agreed upon. 
 
Loans and guarantees 
Loans are granted to CEO and CFO, each of NOK 300,000. The loans are secured 
with a mortgage in shares in NattoPharma ASA and have a maturity of 3 years. 
Loans are charged at 3% p.a. 
 
Other benefits 
Other variable items may be used in the remuneration or assigned different sep-
arate benefits than those mentioned above, provided that this is considered ap-
propriate to attract and / or retain a manager. No special limitations have been 
decided on the type of benefits that can be agreed upon. 
 
Other conditions: 
The management group in Norway participates in a pension and insurance 
scheme through DNB Livsforsikring AS. 
 
Daniel Rosenbaum, has a contractual salary of 12 months from the closing date in 
cases where the board elects to terminate the agreement. Similarly, Kjetil Ram-
søy, has a similar agreement in which severance pay is given for 9 months. For 
both agreements, any notice period under the law or regulation is included in the 
agreement periods. 
 
Shares controlled directly and indirectly by board members and senior executives 
as at 31 December 2017 
 

 Position No. of shares 
Ownership 

share Options 
Frode M. Bo-
han * Chairman 1 621 473 8,94% 200 000 
Stefan  
Halldén Board Member 

 
2 000 

 
0,01% 

 
50 000   

Daniel  
Rosenbaum 

 
CEO 

 
100 000 

 
0,55% 

 
163 000 

Kjetil  
Ramsøy** CFO 100 000 0,55% 74 000 

Total  1 823 473  478 000 

 
* 

Shares indirectly owned by Bohan & Co. AS, TG Montgomery AS, BlackRock OU 
and NxT Capital Ltd. 

** Shares indirectly owned by Cinco Invest AS. 

 

Transactions with related parties 
Amounts in NOK 1.000 Transactions 

Name Related Party 
Balance 
31.12.17 Sales Purchases Loans Interest 

EuroPharma  
Alliance AP 
Z oo 

Piotr  
Jandziak 5 111    23 

Immuno 
 Pharma AS 

H. Vik 
/F. Bohan  106 105   

Seminarium 
Spolka 
Jawna 

Piotr 
Jandziak   1 004   

Tape Poland 
 SP Z oo Frode Bohan   305   
Vitasynt Sp. 
Z oo 

Piotr  
Jandziak -3 698  4 842   

PharmaCo 
AS 

Associated 
entity 57 744 206  57 500 39 

 59 157 312 6 256 57 500 62 

 
Detailed description: 
1. EuroPharma Alliance Sp zoo (EPA), Poland has a longstanding customer re-

lationship with NattoPharma ASA and has from fall 2014 been engaged in 
the production of the Company’s new synthetic vitamin K2 product. Piotr 
Jandziak is the CEO of EuroPharma Alliance Sp zoo. EPA is also a supplier of 
finished products to TG Montgomery AS.   

2. ImmunoPharma AS has supplied graphical and R&D services. Frode Bohan 
is the Chairman in both ImmunoPharma AS and NattoPharma ASA.   

3. Seminarium Spolka Jawna is supplying services related to the production of 
the Company’s new synthetic vitamin K2 product. The company is con-
trolled by Piotr Jandziak.  

4. Tape Poland Sp Z oo deliver IT related services to NattoPharma. Frode Bo-
han is a major shareholder in Tape International AS, the parent company to 
Tape Poland Sp Z oo  

5. Vitasynth Sp Zoo is a supplier of synthetic vitamin K2. Piotr Jandziak is the 
CEO and owner of Vitasynth Sp Zoo.  

6. PharmaCo AS is an associated entity created through a spin-off of the phar-
maceutical business from NattoPharma in December 2017. NattoPharma 
ASA controls 45,85% of the shares in PharmaCo AS at 31st December 2017.   
See note 24 in the consolidated accounts for 2017.  

 
Note 22 - Net result from the discontinued operation 
NattoPharma ASA recognized a gain of NOK 65,6 million in the transaction with 
PharmaCo. Based on the accounting principle for non-controlling interest in eq-
uity accounted investees, only the portion of the gain related to the ownership by 
other investors in PharmaCo, i.e. 54,15%, has been recognized in the Consolidated 
Income Statement for 2017. This amounts to NOK 35,6 million. The remaining 
amount, NOK 30,0 million, is partly netted against the book value of the invest-
ment in PharmaCo, NOK 8,0 million and partly reported as a long-term liability 
related to deferred income on the sale of the business, NOK 22,0 million. This 
deferred income will be recognized in the Income Statement in accordance with 
any future change in ownership percentage, where NattoPharma potentially is 
diluted as an effect of capital injections in the pharma entity.  See note 24 in the 
consolidated accounts for 2017. 
 
The operating expense related to the discontinued operations has in 2017 been 
NOK 8,4 million. Result from discontinued operations in 2017 is hence a profit of 
NOK 27,1 million. The comparable cost in 2016 for the discontinued operations is 
estimated to be NOK 6,8 million, with no recognized revenue. Hence the loss in 
2016 for the same operations is estimated to be NOK -6,8. 
 
Note 23 – Going concern  
The Board refers to that the company's balance sheet shows a positive equity of 
MNOK 111 per 31 December 2017. Through 2017, the company has implemented 
many profitability improvement measures, as well as improved position on in-
vesting in working capital. Given the company's positive development in 2017, 
the Board considers that the company's financial position is satisfactory and the 
accounts for 2017 have been prepared on the basis of continued operations. 
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Note 24 - Investments in associated companies 
NattoPharma ASA has the following investments in associates: 

Entity Country Industry 
Ownership 

interest 

PharmaCo AS (Kaydence Pharma AS)  Norway Pharma 45,85% 

 
The associate is recognized using the equity method. Based on an overall assess-
ment where size and complexity are taken into account, PharmaCo AS is consid-
ered to be significant associate. Further information regarding the company is 
disclosed below.  
 

  PharmaCo AS 

Book value 31.12.2016 - 

Share of profit post-tax 2017                       -    

Depreciation excess value 2017                       -    

Exchange rate differences                       -    

Investments/disposals                       -    

Capital contribution                8 030  

Capitalized deferred income -8 030 

Dividend                       -    

Book value 31.12.2017          - 

 
Description of the activities of major associate 
PharmaCo AS has its headquarter at Lysaker outside Oslo, Norway, and the com-
pany's main activity is to develop a pharmaceutical drug based on Vitamin K2. 
 

Total revenue - 

Profit from continued operations                       -    

Post-tax profit for discontinued operations                       -    

Other income and expenses -822  

Comprehensive income -  

The Groups share of comprehensive income -822  

    

Current assets                    156  

Non-current assets                75,000  

Current liabilities                  - 822  

Non-current liabilities              -57,500  

Equity               16,834  

 

PharmaCo AS has a long-term liability to NattoPharma ASA per 31.12.2017 of NOK 
57,5 million, which is representing a seller’s credit for the acquisition of the 
pharma business in December 2017. According to the Loan Agreement between 
NattoPharma ASA and PharmaCo, the credit expires within 7 years from date of 
payment and the liability should be repaid over 6 yearly instalments starting at 
the second anniversary date for the loan agreement. PharmaCo will have the ob-
ligation to perform early repayments in the event of capital injections to the com-
pany where NattoPharma will be entitled to 20% of the proceeds, limited to NOK 
10 million per event until the whole loan balance is repaid.   
 
Note 25 - Events after the balance sheet date 
With effect as of 8th February 2018 the former CEO of NattoPharma, Daniel Ros-
enbaum, was transferred to an interim role as CEO for PharmaCo AS. The current 
CFO, Kjetil Ramsøy, has been appointed Interim CEO for NattoPharma and will act 
as both CEO and CFO in the interim period.  
 
There are no other significant events after the balance sheet date that is not 
taken into account in the information presented in this report. 
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NATTOPHARMA ASA STATEMENTS OF PROFIT AND LOSS 
 
PROFIT AND LOSS STATEMENT 

 NattoPharma ASA 

Amounts in NOK 1.000 Note 2017 2016 

REVENUES    
Sales Revenue 4 50 470 33 717 
Other Revenue  80 500 

TOTAL REVENUE  50 550 34 217 

OPERATING COSTS    
Cost of Goods Sold  -32 107 -24 934 
Personnel Cost 5 -10 200 -4 906 
Depreciation on Tangible and Intangible Assets  10, 11 -620 -373 
Other Operating Costs 7 -13 673 -11 548 

TOTAL OPERATING COSTS  -56 601 -41 761 

OPERATING RESULT  -6 050 -7 544 

FINANCE INCOME AND COST    
Interest Income  1 135 1 204 
Interest Expense  -19 -834 
Other Financial Expense  941 -2 394 

NET FINANCIAL RESULT  2 058 -2 024 

ORDINARY RESULT BEFORE TAX  -3 992 -9 568 
 

Tax expense on Ordinary Result 8 - - 

RESULT FROM CONTINUED OPERATIONS  -3 992 -9 568 
 

Result from Discontinued Operations 22 58 653 -5 721 

ANNUAL RESULT  54 661 -15 289 

Basic earnings per share from continued operations 9 -0,23 -0,55 
Diluted earnings per share from continued operations 9 -0,21 -0,55 
Basic earnings per share including discontinued operations 9 3,10 -0,88 
Diluted earnings per share including discontinued operations 9 2,94 -0,88 

 
 

STATEMENT OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
 NattoPharma ASA 

Amounts in NOK 1.000 Note 2017 2016 

ANNUAL RESULT  54 661 -15 289 
Other comprehensive income to be reclassified to profit or loss  
in subsequent period 

   

Translation differences  - - 

TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  54 661 -15 289 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD  54 661 -15 289 
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
 

ASSETS 
 NattoPharma ASA 

Amounts in NOK 1.000 Note 2017 2016 

ASSETS    
Intangible Assets    
Patents and Other Rights 10 1 610 1 445 

Total Intangible Assets  1 610 1 445 

Tangible Assets    
Property, Plant & Equipment 11 126 68 

Total Tangible Assets  126 68 
Financial Assets    
Other Long-Term Receivables 24 57 500 - 
Investment in associate 12, 24 8 030  
Investment in subsidiaries 12 54 682 56 510 
Long Term Receivables from subsidiaries 14 18 100 14 754 

Total Financial Assets  138 312 71 264 

TOTAL ASSETS  140 048 72 777 

Current assets    
Inventory 13 4 627 613 
Trade Receivable and Other Receivables 14 22 911 27 450 
Bank Deposits and Cash 15 10 227 14 059 

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS  37 766 41 122 

TOTAL ASSETS  177 814 114 900 
 

EQUITY AND DEBT 
 NattoPharma ASA 

Amounts in NOK 1.000 Note 2017 2016 

Paid-in Equity    

Share capital 16 54 368 52 688 
Share Premium Reserve  118 346 113 087 

TOTAL PAID-IN EQUITY  172 714 165 775 

Accumulated losses  -6 917 -62 870 

Translation differences  - - 

TOTAL EQUITY  165 798 102 905 
Long term debt    
Deferred tax Liability 8 - - 

TOTAL LONG-TERM DEBT  - - 

Short term debt    
Accounts Payable  8 430 8 689 

Other Short-Term Debt 17 3 586 3 305 

TOTAL SHORT-TERM DEBT  12 016 11 994 

TOTAL DEBT  12 016 11 994 

TOTAL EQUITY AND DEBT  177 814 114 900 
 

 
Oslo, 9 April 2018 

Board of Directors of NattoPharma ASA 
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
 NattoPharma ASA 

Amounts in NOK 1.000  2017 2016 

OPERATING ACTIVITIES    
Profit / -Loss before tax  54 661 -15 289 
Depreciation and amortisation  620 373 
Non-Cash items from sale of Pharma Business 24 -65 500 - 
Changes in working capital items:     
   Inventory 13 -4 014 -279 
   Trade and other receivables 14 4 380 14 367 
   Trade payable  -259 -328 
   Other short-term items  216 -1 185 

NET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  -9 897 -2 341 

INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES    
Investment in Associate  -30 - 
Investments in property, plant & equipment  -863 -1 257 

NET CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES  -873 -1 257 

FINANCING ACTIVITIES    
Proceeds from share issue / -Transactions Cost  6 939 1 109 

NET CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES  6 939 1 109 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents  -3 832 -2 489 
Effect of currency  - - 
Cash and cash equivalents 1.1. 15 14 059 16 548 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 31.12.  10 227 14 059 
 
 

CHANGES IN EQUITY 
 Share  

capital 
 Own 

Shares 
Share  

premium 
Accumulated 

loss 
Conversion 
Adjustment Total Equity 

Amounts in NOK 1.000       

Equity as per 01.01.2016 51 419 -21 113 269 -49 529 - 115 138 

Total comprehensive income for the period    -15 289  -15 289 
Equity based remuneration    1 948  1 948 
Share issue 1 290     1 290 
Transaction costs   -182   -182 

EQUITY AS PER 31.12.2016 52 709 -21 113 087 -62 870 - 102 905 

Equity as per 01.01.2017 52 709 -21 113 087 -62 870 - 102 905 

Total comprehensive income for the period    54 661  54 661 
Equity based remuneration    1 293  1 293 
Share issue 1 680  5 320   7 000 
Transaction costs   -61   -61 

EQUITY AS PER 31.12.2017 54 389 -21 118 346 -6 917 - 165 798 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
Note 1 – General information 
The company is a publicly traded public limited company established in 2004, and 
the head office has at Lilleakerveien 2B, Oslo, as of 31.12.2017. Our product is the 
MenaQ7® brand, which is based on a substance Menaquinone-7, the natural vit-
amin K2 as well as a new synthetically manufactured product that is developed 
and ready for commercial production from the last quarter of 2016. 
 
The company's shares were listed on Oslo Børs' list Oslo Axess per. January 30, 
2008 and was listed on NASDAQ First North in Stockholm on May 18, 2016. 
 
The accounts were approved by the Board on 9th April 2018. 
 
Note 2 - Summary of the most important accounting principles 
The annual accounts have been prepared for the company for 2017 with compar-
ative figures for 2016 for the profit and loss account, the balance sheet, the com-
prehensive income, the cash flow statement and the change in equity for the 
company. These principles have been applied consistently throughout all periods 
presented, unless otherwise stated in the description. 
 
Note 2.1 – Basis for accounting preparation   
The company accounts of NattoPharma ASA have been prepared in accordance 
with EU-approved IFRSs and related interpretations, as well as the additional Nor-
wegian disclosure requirements that follow from the Accounting Act, Stock Ex-
change Regulations and Stock Exchange Rules, which will be applied per. 
31.12.2017. The accounts have been prepared based on historical cost, with the 
exception of financial derivatives that are measured at fair value through profit 
or loss. 
 
Changes in accounting principles due to new or amended standards are per-
formed retroactively unless otherwise specifically determined by a current stand-
ard. Recurring effect requires that results from previous periods and opening bal-
ance for such period have been restated. 

 
Note 2.2. - Subsidiaries 
As of 31.12.17, NattoPharma has two subsidiaries, NattoPharma USA, Inc. located 
in the United States and NattoPharma R & D Ltd, which is registered in Cyprus. 
 
Subsidiaries are entered in the balance sheet for cost in the company accounts. 
Otherwise, see notes 2 and 3 in the consolidated financial statements for the com-
pany's other important accounting principles. 
 
Note 4 – Geographic distribution of sales revenues 

(Amounts in NOK 1.000) 2017 2016 

United States 25 138 9 789 
Europe 22 830 23 613 
The rest of the world 2 502 315 

Total sales 50 470 33 717 

 
Total revenue for the parent company includes MNOK 30,3 (2016: MNOK 11,1) in 
sales to subsidiaries eliminated in the consolidated financial statements. 
 
Note 5 - Salary and Personnel costs and number of employees  

(Amounts in NOK 1.000) 2017 2016 

Salary Cost  6 978  3 208 
Employer Tax Cost  1 000  968 
Employee Related Insurance  295  291 
Remuneration to Board & Election Committee  241  159 
Share & Option Cost 1293  358 
Other Personnel Cost  393  -78 

Total labour costs 10 200 4 906 

Number of man-years 7 7 

 
Specification of salary and remuneration to senior executives is discussed in note 
21 to the consolidated financial statements. 
 
The company is required to have a compulsory pension plan in accordance with 
the Norwegian Act on Compulsory Occupational Pensions ("Compulsory Occupa-
tional Pensions Act"). The company has signed a defined contribution pension 
agreement with Storebrand Livsforsikring AS, which goes beyond the require-
ments of this Act. The agreement is based on a premium payment of 3,5% for 
income between 1G and 7,1G (G = 93 634) and 6,5% of income between 7,1 and 
12G. The scheme includes a disability insurance. In addition, a group life scheme 
has been agreed based on a replacement equivalent to 15G at death. Pursuant to 
section 6-16a of the Public Limited Companies Act, the Board has prepared a 
statement on the determination of salary and other remuneration to the CEO and 
other senior executives. 
 
Note 6 - Share-based remuneration 
See note 6 in the consolidated financial statements for information.  
 
 
 
 
 

Note 7 - Specification of other operating costs 
(Amounts in NOK 1.000) 2017 2016 

Property Expenses 963 436 
Travel Cost 967 822 
Sales & Marketing Cost 979 1 081 
Audit, Legal & Accounting Expenses 1 697 2 703 
Research & Development Cost 7 231 861 
Other Operating Costs 1 836 5 646 

Other Operating Expenses 13 673 11 548 

 
Specification of remuneration to the auditor: 

(Amounts in NOK 1.000) 2017 2016 

Specification of remuneration Statutory audits 321 261 
Tax advisory services 16 37 
Other services outside auditing 149 106 

Total fee to elected auditor refer to auditor 486 404 

 
Note 8 - Tax 

The tax expense for the year consists of  
(Amounts in NOK 1.000) 2017 2016 

Payable tax - - 
Change deferred tax - - 

Total Tax Income - - 

 
Due to several years of operating losses, the company has elected not to capitalize 
its deferred tax assets. 
 

Tax effect of temporary differences 
 (Amounts in NOK 1.000) 2017 2016 

Balance gain/loss account -12 576 91 
Fixed assets/Intangible assets 535  
Accounting provisions  - 
Inventory  102 
Other differences  - 
Loss to be carried forward 41 805 43 455 

Total non-capitalized (deferred tax) / tax benefit 29 764 43 648 

 
The following table shows a reconciliation between expected tax based on profit 
before tax and nominal tax rate and actual tax expense / (income): 
 

(Amounts in NOK 1.000) 2017 2016 

Result before taxes 54 661 -16 589 
Nominal tax rate 24% 25% 

Expected tax expense 13 119 -4 147 
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 1 2 
Tax effect of SkatteFunn -826 -796 
Change in unrecognized deferred tax asset -13 884 2 678 
Impact of changes in tax rules and rates 1 294 1 838 
Transaction costs charged to equity - -45 
Other 296 - 

Taxes for the year / (income) - - 

Effective tax rate 0% 0% 

 
Note 9 - Earnings per share 
Ordinary earnings per share are calculated by dividing the annual result of the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year less 
own shares held as at 31 December 2017. 
 

(Amounts in NOK 1.000) 2017 2016 

Annual result including discontinued operations 54 661 -15 289 

Profit from continued operations -3 992 -9 568 

Weighted average number of shares issued 17 613 17 289 

Weighted average number of shares diluted  18 594 17 352 

Basic earnings per share from continued operations 
Diluted earnings per share from continued operations 
Basic earnings per share including discontinued operations 
Diluted earnings per share including discontinued operations 

-0,23 
-0,23 
3,10 
2,94 

-0,55 
-0,55 
-0,88 
-0,88 

 
See also Note 16 "Share capital". 
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Note 10 - Intangible assets 

  Other Intangible Assets 

Amounts in NOK 1.000 Software 
Acquired 

Rights 
Patents 

Total 
Other In-
tangible 
Assets 

Acquisition cost 01.01.2016  0 1 099 1 798 2 897 

Acquisitions 1 189    1 189 

Disposals      

Exchange rate changes      

Acquisition cost 31.12.2016 1 189 1 099 1 798 4 086 

Acquisitions 539 211   750 
Disposals      
Exchange rate changes     

Acquisition cost 31.12.2017 1 728 1 310 1 798 4 836 

       
Accumulated depreciation 
01.01.2016  733 1 538 2 271 
Amortization and deprec. for the 
year  220 150 370 
Disposals      
Exchange rate changes      

Accumulated depreciation 
01.01.2017 0 953 1 688 2 641 

Amortization and deprec. for the 
year 317 159 110 586 

Disposals      
Exchange rate changes      

Accumulated depreciation 
31.12.2017 317 1 112 1 798 3 227 

          

Balance sheet value 31.12.2017 1 411 198 0 1 610 

Balance sheet value 31.12.2016 1 189 146 110 1 445 

 
The company uses linear depreciation for all intangible assets. 
 
The economic life is intended for: 
- Patent 1     10 years 
- Patent 2 + 3    11 years 
- Patent 4 (purchased)    2.5 years 
- Purchased synthetic K2 technology  10 years 
 
The company has used regular reviews about the duration of a patent. Normally, 
the life of a patent is estimated to be 15 years from the time a patent is registered. 
For purchased patents in 2006, the remaining life is then estimated to be 9 and 
10 years. Patents purchased in December 2012 will be depreciated over the re-
maining lifetime of 1.5 years. This is also the basis for depreciation.  
 
Note 11 - Tangible fixed assets 

Amounts in NOK 1.000 Hardware 
Refurbishment 
rented offices 

Total Fixed As-
sets 

Acquisition cost 01.01.2016 32 0 32 

Acquisitions 
 69 69 

Disposals 
   0 

Exchange rate changes 
   0 

Acquisition cost 31.12.2016 32 69 101 

Acquisitions 
 93 93 

Disposals 
   0 

Exchange rate changes 
   0 

Acquisition cost 31.12.2017 32 162 194 

 
     

Accumulated depreciation 
01.01.2016 30 0 30 

Amortization for the year 2 1 3 

Disposals 
   0 

Exchange rate changes 
   0 

Accumulated depreciation 
01.01.2017 32 1 33 

Amortization for the year 
 35 35 

Disposals 
   0 

Exchange rate changes 
   0 

Accumulated depreciation 
31.12.2017 32 36 68 

        

Balance sheet value 31.12.2017 0 126 126 

Balance sheet value 31.12.2016 0 68 68 

 
The company uses straight-line depreciation for all tangible fixed assets. 

The economic life of the assets is calculated as: 
 

• Computer equipment: linear 3 years 
• Fixtures: linear 5 years 

 
Note 12 – Subsidiaries/Associate 

Amounts in NOK 1.000 Cost Price 
Booked 
Value 

Owner-
ship 

NattoPharma USA, Inc., NJ, USA 2 873 2 873 100% 
NattoPharma R&D Ltd, Kypros 51 640 51 640 100% 
PharmaCo AS (Assosiate) 8 030 8 030 45,85% 

 
Note 13 - Inventories 

Amounts in NOK 1.000 2017 2016 

Inventory finished goods 4 627 613 

Sum 4 627 613 

Inventory is booked at the lower of cost and net realizable value. 
 
Note 14 - Accounts receivable and other short-term receivables 

Amounts in NOK 1.000 2017 2016 

Accounts receivable 21 601 19 902 
VAT, Refunds, etc 671 1 552 
Prepayments 639 1 571 
Other receivables - 4 425 

Total accounts receivable and other receivables 22 911 27 450 

 
For disclosure of NattoPharma's credit risk and handling, see note 18 - Financial 
risk. 
 
The company has the following claims on group companies at the end of 2017: 
 

Amounts in NOK 1.000 
Accounts re-
ceivables 

Other short-
term receiv-
ables 

NattoPharma USA, Inc 14 069 - 
NattoPharma R&D Ltd - 18 100 

Sum 14 069 18 100 

 
Note 15 - Bank deposits 
Included in cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 2017 were tax deduc-
tions of NOK 255,000 (2016: NOK 262,000), as well as a deposit account for costs 
associated with the company's listing on NASDAQ First North of SEK 200 000. Fur-
thermore, the company has provided security for rent with NOK 438 700.  
 
The company has provided a guarantee in connection with a current contract with 
a supplier of USD 90,000. This is secured with collateral in DNB deposits. 

 
Note 16 - Share capital 

Outstanding shares 
Number of 
Shares *) Face value 

Share  
capital 

01.01.2016 17 139 933 3 40 705 515 

Issues 2016 430 000 3 1 290 000 
Redemption employee  
options -  - 

31.12.2016 17 569 933 3 52 709 799 

Issues 2017 560 000  1 680 000 
Redemption employee 
options -  - 

31.12.2017 18 129 933 3 54 389 799 

 
*) Own shares are 7 143 at a face value of 3,00 each; NOK 21 429 
 
Reference is made to note 16 in the consolidated accounts for 2017. 
 
Note 17 -  Other short - term debt 

Amounts in NOK 1.000 2017 2016 

Cost provision 2 721 909 
Mandatory Public Fees, etc. 254 1 756 
Accrued Vacation pay 611 640 

Sum 3 586 3 305 

 
The company has the following debts to group companies at the end of 2017: 

Amounts in NOK 1.000 2017 

NattoPharma USA, Inc - 
NattoPharma R&D Ltd - 

Sum - 

 
Note 18 - Financial risk 
The company is exposed to various types of financial risk, all of which coincide 
with the group as a whole. For more detailed information about the different fi-
nancial risks, see note 18 in the consolidated financial statements. 
 
Note 19 - Non-capitalized liabilities 
Non-capitalized liabilities consist primarily of leases of office premises at Lilleaker 
in Oslo, which were entered into in 2016 and expire in January 2022. The rental 
price is adjusted upwards with the consumer price index annually, first January 1, 
2018. The company recorded NOK 755 000 in total rental costs for its premises in 
Norway in 2017 (NOK 431 000 in 2016). 
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Specification of contractual lease obligations, including joint costs: 
Amounts in NOK 1.000 2017 2016 

Less than a year 708 849 
More than one year, but less than five years 2 477 3 467 

Sum 3 185 4 316 

 
Note 20 - Shareholder Information 
Reference is made to note 20 in the consolidated accounts for 2017. 
 
Note 21 - Transactions with related parties and remuneration of senior execu-
tives 
For the statement of remuneration to the Board of Directors and senior execu-
tives, as well as the number of shares owned by the board and senior executives 
and transactions with related parties, please refer to NattoPharma's consolidated 
financial statements 2017 Note 21 "Transactions with related parties and remu-
neration of senior executives".  
 
Note 22 - Net result from the discontinued operation 

Amounts in NOK 1.000 2017 2016 
Gain on sale of pharma business 65 500 - 
Personnel Cost -1 550 -1 115 
Other Operating Expenses -5 297 -4 606 

RESULT FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 58 653  -5 721 

 
Note 23 - Going concern  
The Board refers to that the company's balance sheet shows a positive equity of 
MNOK 165,8 per 31 December 2017. Through 2017, the company has imple-
mented many profitability improvement measures, as well as improved position 
on investing in working capital. Given the company's positive development in 
2017, the Board considers that the company's financial position is satisfactory and 
the accounts for 2017 have been prepared on the basis of continued operations. 
 
Note 24 - Investments in associated companies 
NattoPharma ASA has the following investments in associates: 

Entity Country Industry 
Ownership 

interest 

PharmaCo AS (Kaydence Pharma AS)  Norway Pharma 45.85% 

 
The associate is recognized using the equity method. Based on an overall assess-
ment where size and complexity are taken into account, PharmaCo AS is consid-
ered to be significant associate. Further information regarding the company is 
disclosed below. 

 
  PharmaCo AS 

Book value 31.12.2016 - 

Share of profit post-tax 2017                       -    

Depreciation excess value 2017                       -    

Exchange rate differences                       -    

Investments/disposals                       -    

Capital contribution                8 030  

Capitalised deferred income - 

Dividend                       -    

Book value 31.12.2017               8 030 

 
Description of the activities of major associate 
PharmaCo AS has its headquarter at Lysaker outside Oslo, Norway, and the com-
pany's main activity is to develop a pharmaceutical drug based on Vitamin K2.  
 

Total revenue                       -    

Profit from continued operations                       -    

Post-tax profit for discontinued operations                       -    

Other income and expenses -822  

Comprehensive income -  

The Groups share of comprehensive income -822  

    

Current assets                    156  

Non-current assets                75 000  

Current liabilities                  - 822  

Non-current liabilities              -57 500  

Equity               16 834  

 

PharmaCo AS has a long-term liability to NattoPharma ASA per 31.12.2017 of NOK 
57.5 million, which is representing a seller’s credit for the acquisition of the 
pharma business in December 2017. According to the Loan Agreement between 
NattoPharma ASA and PharmaCo, the credit expires within 7 years from date of 
payment and the liability should be repaid over 6 yearly instalments starting at 
the second anniversary date for the loan agreement. PharmaCo will have the ob-
ligation to perform early repayments in the event of capital injections to the com-
pany where NattoPharma will be entitled to 20% of the proceeds, limited to NOK 
10 million per event until the whole loan balance is repaid.   
 
Note 25 - Events after the balance sheet date 
With effect as of 8th February 2018 the former CEO of NattoPharma, Daniel Ros-
enbaum, was transferred to an interim role as CEO for PharmaCo AS. The current 
CFO, Kjetil Ramsøy, has been appointed Interim CEO for NattoPharma and will act 
as both CEO and CFO in the interim period.  
 
There are no other significant events after the balance sheet date that is not taken 
into account in the information presented in this report. 
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ALTERNATIVE PERFORMANCE MEASURES 
 
Management is on a regular basis providing alternative performance measures (APM) that are reviewed by the board and management to better understand the group’s per-
formance. According to ESMAs guidelines on such APM’s these are defined as financial measures of historical of future financial performance, financial position or cash flows, 
other than those defined as financial measures according to the International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by EU.  

 
NattoPharma uses the following APMs; 
 

Gross Profit / Gross Margin 2017 2016 

Revenue   

Revenue 66 418 51 830 

Other Revenue 188 1 512 

Total Operational Revenue 66 606 53 342 

Operating Expenses   

Cost of Goods Sold -35 013 -28 923 

Total Cost of Goods -35 013 -28 923 

GROSS PROFIT 31 593 24 419 

GROSS MARGIN 47,43% 45,78% 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation 
and Amortization (EBITDA) 2017 2016 

Revenue   

Revenue 66 418 51 830 

Other Revenue 188 1 512 

TOTAL OPERATIONAL REVENUE 66 606 53 342 

Operating Expenses   

Cost of Goods Sold -35 013 -28 923 

Personnel Cost 18 534 13 323 

Other Operating Expenses 10 301 12 560 

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES, 
excl. Depreciation and Amortization -63 848 -54 806 

EBITDA 2 757 -1 464 

EBITDA as a % of revenue 4,14% -2,74% 

Non-Cash Cost for options and shares 2 511 2 354 

Adjusted EBITDA 5 268 890 

Adjusted EBITDA as a % of Revenue 7,91% 1,67% 
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To the General Meeting of Nattopharma ASA 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinion 
We have audited the financial statements of Nattopharma ASA. The financial statements comprise: 

• The financial statements of the parent company, which comprise the balance sheet as at 31 

December 2017, and income statement, statement of comprehensive income, statement of 

changes in equity, cash flow for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, 

including a summary of significant accounting policies, and 

• The financial statements of the group, which comprise the balance sheet as at 31 December 2017 

and income statement, statement of changes in equity, cash flow for the year then ended, and 

notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion: 

• The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the law and regulations. 

• The accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 

of the parent company as at 31 December 2017, and its financial performance and its cash flows 

for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted 

by the EU. 

• The accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 

of the group as at 31 December 2017, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year 

then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices 

generally accepted in Norway, included International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities 

under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company and the Group as 

required by laws and regulations, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 

with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in 

our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the 

context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we 

do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

The key audit matters identified in our audit are: 

• Accounting treatment and classification of disposal 

• Impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets 
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Accounting treatment and classification of disposal 

Key audit matter 

As described in note 22, Nattopharma, during 

2017, completed its disposal of the 

pharmaceutical business to PharmaCo AS, 

recognizing a gain of NOK 35,6 million in the 

consolidated financial statement and NOK 65,6 

million in the parent company. 

The transaction requires management to make 

significant judgments in the application of the 

accounting regulations and to determine the fair 

value of the transaction. 

The valuation of this transaction is based on 

management's assumptions about the fair value 

of the assets disposed of and the consideration 

received. The disposal involved significant 

judgment and applied valuation techniques in 

relation to determining the fair value. 

How the matter was addressed in the audit 
___ ,.,.,,4,, __ ,,, ... ,.,.,,,_, , ,..,,,,, __ ,,.,,.,_,.,,.,, ,,_,_,,_,,,,,.,.,,,,.,,.,.,,,,.,,,.,,,.,,.,.,,..,,,_,,,,.,_,,_,, ,,_,,,,, •• _, ,..,,. ..... ,_, ,,,_,,,, •• ,.,,.,,,,.,,,_.,,,,,,.,,.,,,,,., __ ,.,,,---· .. ·-···- .. ------·-·,,,·_,,,. .. ,,_,,,,,,.,,.,,,.,,,,,,,,,,.,,,,.,,.,,,,_,,,,_.,_,,,_,,,_,_,,,,_, ,,, __ ,,,,,,,,. 

!we reviewed the sale and purchase agreement related to 

the disposal of the pharmaceutical business. 

We assessed that the accounting treatment was in 

Jaccordance with relevant accounting regulations. 

jWe obtained the valuation model and challenged 

manaqernent's key assumptions used in the cash flow 

lforecasts included within the valuation model. In 

!particular; 

• the royalty rate used; 

• the estimated prepayments, timeline to product 

launch, number of transplants per year, average 

lifetime expectancy, patient prescription cost per 

year and assumed market share; and 

• the discount rate used 

The Group holds 45.85 % of the shares and 

voting rights in PharmaCo AS after the 

transaction. The investment is classified as an 

investment in an associate company and 

accounted for according to the equity method. An 

evaluation of control involves assessing all of the 

facts and circumstances and relevant agreements 

and management exercise judgement to conclude 

that the company does not have power over the 

investee, is not exposed to variable returns from 

its involvement with the investee and does not 

have the ability to affect those returns by using 

its power over the investee. 

The extent of management judgement in this 

transaction, make this a key audit matter. 

! 

!We used internal valuations experts to verify the 

mathematlcal and methodological integrity of 

!management's valuation model. 
l 

! 

!With regard to the classification of the investment, we 

!evaluated relevant agreements to understand ownership 

jand voting rights. 

Further we evaluated Management's assessment of the 

!Group's exposure to variable return and ability to affect 

!those returns through its power over the investee to the 

accountinc regulation. 

!We also considered the disclosures provided by the Group 

lin relation to the transaction. 
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Impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets 

Key a _u d_i t rn_a tt er - _ .. _ - .. - _ , _ .. .. ,_ .. ,_ __ _ _ _. : .. ~--~-~-~-~--~--~-~ !~=-~-~ .. ~-~---~~-~- .. ~-~--~ .. ~-~-9. .. ~ .. ~-- !.~-=----~-~-9,-~-~---- .. --.-- ---·-· ·-- .. -·- ·-·----·-· - - .. 
As disclosed in note 3 and 10, the Group has !We assessed Nattopharma's impairment process and 

recognized goodwill of NOK 7,426 thousand and testeo design and implementation of relevant controls 

intangible assets of NOK 36,759 thousand. established related to the estimates and judgements. 
! 

Goodwill and intangible assets relates to the 

acquisition of Nattopharma R&D Ltd in 2013. 

Intangible assets are assessed for impairment at 

the end of each reporting period if impairment 

indicators are identified. In addition, goodwill is 

assessed annually for impairment using a value 

in-use basis. 

To assess recoverability of these non-current 

assets, management must make assumptions 

about future revenues, discount rates as well as 

future operating costs. 

Due to the the inherent uncertainty involved in 

the forecasting and discounting of future cash 

flows, and the level of management judgement 

involved, this has been identified as a key audit 

matter. 

Jwe obtained the valuation model and challenged 

!management's key assumptions used in the impairment 

model. In particular; 

• the growth rate in revenues; 

• the future operating costs and margins; and 

• the discount rate used 

., validated the mathematical accuracy of cash flow 

models. 

!We also considered the disclosures provided by the Group 

lin relation to the impairment testing. 

j 

-··-···--··------··--··-- .. ------·-·---·------···-···--·····-·-··---· .. ··-----·-·---·-··--"-'""'·--··-·---------- .. -·.-- .. ··-·-- ,.,._,,, ,,, .. ,_, ,,,._.,.,,..,, __ ,,_,, .,_,_,; ·----·----·--··----- --·-·-----·-·---· -·--··--·-··-·-··--·-----·--·-- .. -· .. ··--·-··-··-··---·-·-----·-- .. ····-·--··--······----- .. -··-·------··--··-··-·-·--·----- _, ,. .,.,, , . ., __ ,_,,,. 

Other Information 
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 

included in the Annual Report, but does not include the financial statements and our auditor's report 

thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 

any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 

information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 

financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 

misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 

other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the Chief Executive Officer for the Financial Statements 
The Board of Directors and the Chief Executive Officer (management) are responsible for the 

preparation in accordance with law and regulations, including fair presentation of the financial 

statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU, and 

for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 

statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
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In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company's and the 

Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 

concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to 

liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report 

that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 

that an audit conducted in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices 

generally accepted in Norway, including ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 

aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 

the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices generally 

accepted in Norway, including ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 

scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 

fraud or error. We design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 

evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 

detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 

as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override 

of internal control. 

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 

opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's and the Group's internal control. 

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

• conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting 

and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 

or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's and the Group's ability to continue 

as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 

attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such 

disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 

obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause 

the Company and the Group to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events 

in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 

business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 

We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain 

solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 

scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 

internal control that we identify during our audit 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 

ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and 

other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, 

related safeguards. 
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From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters 

that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are 

therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or 

regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we 

determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences 

of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 

communication. 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

Opinion on the Board of Directors' report and the statements on Corporate Governance and Corporate 
Social Responsibility 
Based on our audit of the financial statements as described above, it is our opinion that the 

information presented in the Board of Directors' report and in the statements on Corporate Governance 

and Corporate Social Responsibility concerning the financial statements, the going concern assumption 

and the proposal for the allocation of the profit is consistent with the financial statements and complies 

with the law and regulations. 

Opinion on Registration and Documentation 
Based on our audit of the financial statements as described above, and control procedures we have 

considered necessary in accordance with the International Standard on Assurance Engagements (ISAE) 

3000, «Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information», it is 

our opinion that management has fulfilled its duty to produce a proper and clearly set out registration 

and documentation of the Company's and the Group's accounting information in accordance with the 

law and bookkeeping standards and practices generally accepted in Norway. 

Oslo, 9 April 2018 

Deloitte AS 

f:._$.r~ J,~o..nSe.A 
Espen Johansen 

State Authorised Public Accountant (Norway) 


	NattoPharma ASA - 2017 Annual Report
	20180413 - NattoPharma ASA Revisjonsberetning FY17

